## Science-based recommendations to prevent or reduce potential exposures to biological, chemical, and physical agents in schools

Derek G. Shendell, D.Env, MPH, Claire Barnett, MBA, Stephen Boese, MSW

Healthy Schools Network, Inc. (HSN), Albany, NY

March 8, 2004

## Please address correspondence concerning this report to:

Healthy Schools Network, Inc. www.healthyschools.org

<u>dgshendell@earthlink.net</u> and <u>cbarnett@healthyschools.org</u> (518) 462-0632 voice, (518) 462-0433 FAX

# Acknowledgements:

This review of scientific literature was supported by grants from The Rockefeller Foundation, the National Institutes of Environmental Health Sciences, and the National Clearinghouse for Educational Facilities of the US Department of Education.

The findings and recommendations are the opinions of the authors.

## TABLE OF CONTENTS

List of Acronyms Used	3
Abstract	4
Introduction	5-6
Methodology	6
Concise Review of School-based Studies with IEQ Measurements, and Outcomes	7-20
Biological agents Chemical Agents and Particles Physical Agents and Related Characteristics of Schools Persistent Organic Pollutants and Possible Endocrine-Disrupting Chemicals: Present Concerns Possibly Present in Older Schools Asbestos, Radon, and Specific Heavy Metals of Concern	7 11 15 19 20
Practical science-based recommendations for short and long-term actions	21-25
Table 1: School IEQ studies and highly related references identified and cited in the review, by type of reference and IEQ category used for	24
Table 2: Summary of recommendations for schools to improve indoor air and environmental quality in classrooms and other areas based on available science	25
Conclusion	26
Acknowledgements	26
References Cited	27-46
Appendices	47
Appendix I.  Existing noise guidelines for school environments at local, state and internation	47 al level
Appendix II.1 List of some state and federal government sponsored Internet sites on school IEQ and energy	48
Appendix II.2  List of some public and not-for-profit institutions Internet sites on school environmental quality, and select private companies on IEQ-promoting classroom construction or finishing materials	49

### LIST OF ACRONYMS USED

ASHRAE American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning

Engineers, a professional organization (e.g., writes guidelines)

CARB California Air Resources Board

CO carbon monoxide CO<sub>2</sub> carbon dioxide

dB (A) A-weighted decibels, a measure of noise indoors or outdoors

IEQ indoor air and environmental quality

HCHO formaldehyde

HVAC heating, ventilating, and air conditioning systems

LBNL Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory

L<sub>eq</sub> time-weighted average noise level, measured in A-weighted decibels

MDL analytic method detection limit

MVOC microbial volatile organic compounds

portables modular classrooms, also termed portable or relocatable

ppm parts-per-million (molar volume, in air) ppb parts-per-billion (molar volume, in air)

RC relocatable classroom

RH relative humidity, in indoor or outdoor air temperature, in indoor or outdoor air

UC University of California

USEPA United States Environmental Protection Agency

USGAO United States General Accounting Office

VOC volatile organic compound, a toxic or odorous chemical

#### **ABSTRACT**

Previous U.S. Government Accounting Office reports documented survey results on the generally poor conditions of school facilities as of the early 1990s. More recently, the American Society of Civil Engineers conducted a survey that reported widespread poor conditions. In addition, previous review papers examined studies across different time intervals ending prior to 2002 on the relationships between educational facility indoor air and environmental quality (IEQ), including adequate ventilation, and occupant health and productivity. Beyond work done throughout California and the Nordic countries, research on IEQ specifically related to new or refurbished traditional school construction, or modular portable or relocatable classrooms, has been limited. This paper is not another review on the quantitative and qualitative IEQ measurements and/or quantitative and self-reported health symptom data collected in schools or from school age children at home. Instead, we present a concise review of peer-reviewed literature related to school IEQ. Then, in the context of limited resources facing American schools, we present practical science-based recommendations to improve and promote good school IEQ and hence prevent or reduce potential occupant exposure to biological, chemical, and physical agents of concern. We used National Library of Medicine and University of California (UC) library electronic search engines, conference proceeding books, the Internet, and reference lists of papers and reports gathered. We included 302 citations directly involving or highly related to school IEQ and occupant health, attendance, and productivity or performance. The references were 147 peer-reviewed journal papers; 98 papers or abstracts published in conference proceedings and journals (1990-2003); 26 U.S. government and national laboratory reports; 13 state of California and Washington-sponsored reports or policy documents; 3 World Health Organization documents; 13 reports by not-for-profit research institutions (universities, four professional societies, nine); and, 2 doctoral theses (UC). Tables summarize 18 recommendations justified by references in this review. This report was written for various school stakeholders and for policy makers at the federal and state levels to drive change in local school districts.

#### Introduction

Many environmental, social, cultural, and personal factors (e.g., health, gender, age/developmental stage, time-location-activity patterns) influence children's exposure to pollutants across media and pathways in the microenvironments they inhabit during daily activities (Cohen Hubal et al., 2000), including differential susceptibility among infants, toddlers, young schoolchildren, and adolescents (Golub, 2000). Schools are one such microenvironment.

Federal reports on environmental threats to children's health (USEPA 1996, 2000, 2002a) have requested more research on toxic air contaminants and biological agents in urban community-based field studies in microenvironments where children spend time (e.g., homes, schools). Earlier federal government reports provided results of surveys on the generally poor conditions of American school facilities as of the early 1990s (USGAO, 1995, 1996a-b). The American Society of Civil Engineers conducted a more recent survey, which reported widespread poor conditions (ASCE, 2003).

The aforementioned USEPA reports also called for improved risk communication and environmental education. Risk communication of school research results, environmental education and recommendations must inherently be based on the best available scientific knowledge, which is condensed and delivered in a clear manner to targeted stakeholders (Shendell et al., 2002a; Shendell, 2003a-b). Asthma, a respiratory malady with acute and chronic effects, has been the leading cause of school absenteeism (millions of days) due to chronic illness in the United States (Mannino et. al, 2002; USEPA, 2002a and 2002b). In addition, a national survey by the American Lung Association and the National Association of School Nurses (ALA-NASN, 2003) reported that asthma among students of minority and underserved populations was an increasing problem. The surveyed nurses believed there were insufficient financial and information resources available to them to address health concerns among these students. In particular, more than half of the surveyed school nurses stated overall awareness of asthma triggers and awareness about asthma management strategies among parent/caregivers were poor.

Previous review papers have examined studies, for different time intervals ending prior to 2002, concerning relationships between educational facility indoor air and environmental quality (IEQ), including adequate ventilation, and occupant health and productivity (Heath and Mendell, 2002; Angell and Daisey, 1997; Daisey and Angell, 1998; Wargocki et al., 2002; Daisey et al., 2003). Beyond work done throughout California and the Nordic countries, research on school IEQ specifically related to new or refurbished traditional construction (e.g., Boone et al., 1997) or modular classrooms (portables) (e.g., Naylor, 1997; Ross and Walker, 1999) has also been limited. There was one environmental psychology study examining classroom design, in terms of mobility related to occupant density (m² person¹) and fixed versus movable objects like furniture, on everyday teacher tasks and performance (Martin, 2002). Martin's conclusion was the importance of classroom environmental quality awareness in the training and continuing education of teachers.

This paper will not be a similar review on the quantitative and qualitative IEQ and/or quantitative and self-reported health symptom data. Instead, based on reported studies from 1990 (or earlier, for journal articles) to fall 2003, the limited, schools-based peer-reviewed

literature, government reports and Internet sites, and conference proceedings, were concisely summarized to determine what science-based, practical recommendations could be made. The proposed recommendations can help inform school stakeholders to act to prevent or mitigate IEQ problems. The goal is to enhance the learning and work environment of students and staff.

## Methodology

We used National Library of Medicine and University of California (UC) library electronic search engines and conference proceeding books owned by the authors or accessed through colleagues. In addition, we also examined the reference lists of papers and reports gathered, and were aware of previous or new government and professional association reports and school IEQ initiatives. We focused on work available to the public in print, or by Internet, in the English language. The primary keywords were school, school children, classrooms, portables or relocatables or modular classrooms, and attendance. The secondary keywords were the IEQ topics covered in this paper. The IEQ topics appear below.

- 1. Observed moisture damage
- 2. Biological agents in air and dust (bacteria, fungi, allergens)
- 3. Toxic and odorous volatile organic compounds, including formaldehyde
- 4. Direct measures and indicators (carbon dioxide) of ventilation
- 5. Temperature and relative humidity (as thermal comfort parameters)
- 6. Particles and dusts, and chemical residues like pesticides
- 7. Carbon monoxide
- 8. Persistent organic pollutants (polychlorinated biphenyls, phthalates)
- 9. Specific metals (arsenic, lead, mercury)
- 10. Asbestos
- 11. Radon gas
- 12. Lighting
- 13. Noise

The peer-reviewed journals of relevance covered the period 1968-fall 2003. Final federal and state of California government reports of relevance available to the public were included; case studies or less formal consultant reports were excluded; unpublished non-peer reviewed reports were also excluded. National and international conference proceeding books searched (years available) were:

- 1. The triennial International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate (1990-2002)
- 2. The triennial Healthy Buildings Conference (1997, 2000)
- 3. Annual conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis (2000-03)
- 4. Annual conference of the International Society for Environmental Epidemiology (2002-03)

We identified and have included 302 citations directly involving or highly related to school IEQ and occupant health, attendance, and productivity or performance. The references are:

- 147 peer-reviewed journal papers;
- 98 papers or abstracts published in conference proceedings and/or journals (1990-fall 2003);
- 26 U.S. government and national laboratory reports;
- 13 state of California (12) or Washington (1) agency-sponsored reports or policy documents;

- 3 World Health Organization documents;
- 13 reports by not-for-profit research institutions (universities, four; professional societies, 9); and,
- 2 doctoral theses (UC).

## Concise Review of School-based Studies with IEQ Measurements, and Outcomes

In general, most school IEQ studies, whether or not they also examined qualitative or quantitative outcome measures, focused on specific agents. These will be discussed in a concise manner by topic. Some studies assessed general or subjective IEQ and health outcomes (Rindel et al., 1987; Smedje et al., 1996a, 1997a; Lundin, 1999; Pettinen et al., 2000; Turk et al., 2002).

In general, school absenteeism can be an indicator of the student or teacher's overall health, although attendance patterns result from a complex interaction of many factors (Weitzman, 1986; Chen et al., 2000). Possible associations between types of ventilation, ventilation system renovation or replacement, low ventilation rates, temperature and relative humidity, and/or potential chemical, physical, and biological exposures inside traditional classrooms with student attendance and/or adverse learning or health (student and staff) outcomes have been investigated. (Pepler, 1968; Green, 1974, 1985; Norback et al., 1990; Ruotsalainen et al., 1995; Myhrvold et al., 1996; Myhrvold and Olsen, 1997; Smedje et al., 1997a-b; Wålinder et al., 1997a, 1997b, 1998; Meyer et al., 1999; Åhman et al., 2000; Smedje and Norbäck, 2000, Kim et al., 2002; Sahlberg et al., 2002; Shendell et al., 2003c).

Studies also investigated impacts on child attendance of:

- 1. Ambient air pollutants (Romieu et al., 1992; Hwang et al., 2000; Makino, 2000; Gilliland et al., 2001), and a hypothesis on ambient and indoor particles (Rosen and Richardson, 1999);
- 2. Environmental tobacco smoke and children's absenteeism related to respiratory illness (Gilliland et al., 2003):
- 3. Absenteeism and/or performance related to asthma (Parcel et al., 1979; Silverstein et al., 2001);
- 4. Various factors on teacher attendance (Ferris et al., 1988).

### **Biological Agents**

Leaks, moisture damaged materials: Underlying conditions to biological growth if not addressed

Based on location on school grounds, weather, local irrigation, and crawl space cross-ventilation, portable and traditional classroom floors constructed of plywood, as well as roofs and inside walls, may be subject to water condensation build-up, then damage. Moisture build-up can also occur in school kitchens (Lignell et al., 2000). Water-damaged building materials containing cellulose and other available nutrients, with or without light, provide a potential breeding ground for fungi (mold) and bacteria. These agents are measured as culturable and/or non-viable spores. Previous studies have demonstrated water-damaged indoor environments are pollutant sources. Measured air and surface concentrations of bacteria and fungi and diversity, including species of potential health concern, were higher than in non-problem buildings (Samson et al., 1994; Haverinen et al., 1999a; Rand, 1999; Sigsgaard et al., 1999; Savilahti et al., 2000; Lappalainen et al., 2001; Meklin et al., 2002a-b). In addition, a case study in the U.S. (Morey et al., 2002) examined whether fungi could enter the occupied air space of school buildings when envelope

construction materials were damaged, or enter due to leaks and breaks due to poor design, poor construction, poor siting (for portables), or inadequate commissioning. Barry et al. (2003) reported from a case study that proper school HVAC system design can prevent water condensation on cooled surfaces of building materials, and subsequent moisture damage and mold growth. This appears most pertinent to regions like New England and the southeastern U.S., which have hot, humid conditions in late spring-early fall.

In a Finnish school study reported by Haverinen and colleagues (1999a), the documented moisture damage was caused primarily by poor ventilation and water leaks. The school was subsequently repaired with community input following communication of visual inspection and measurement results. Drainage and crawl space ventilation was improved and damaged materials were replaced. In another Finnish study of 41 buildings at 30 schools (31 moisture damaged, 10 not damaged), there was no clear association between building recorded characteristics and water damage status (Koivisto et al., 2002). However, the authors stated the most common reasons for moisture damage were technical aging of materials (27%)-- especially floors in concrete/brick frame buildings (possibly due to unvented crawl spaces) and external walls in wood frame buildings-- and water leaks (13%).

Meklin et al. (2000) studied 32 Finnish schools (30 with health data available) in 1994-99, which they divided into two groups: moisture damaged; non-damaged, reference schools. Though no statistically significant differences were found in measured total concentrations of airborne culturable fungi, some identified fungal groups differed. Furthermore, children in moisture damaged schools reported significantly more respiratory symptoms.

Meklin et al. (2002a) reported on a case study of two Finnish primary schools constructed of concrete; one was found to be moisture damaged. In the five years between the baseline and follow-up assessments, which included self-administered health questionnaires, IEQ sampling, and surface moisture recorders, the damaged school was renovated. The renovation of the moisture damaged school resulted in significant decreases in the geometric mean airborne concentrations of culturable bacteria (p=0.006) and culturable fungi (p=0.002). Differences between the damaged school before repairs (higher) and the reference school (lower) with respect to those airborne concentrations, and number of microbial genera identified, did not persist after repairs. In addition, after repairs, significant decreases (p<0.05 or better) in reported prevalence of eye symptoms, cough with and without phlegm, and rhinitis, as well as other general symptoms, were observed. A case study of staff from a Danish school rebuilt after a long history of water damage also reported the prevalence of mucosal and general symptoms, including eye irritation (from 29% to 7%), significantly declined (Sigsgaard et al., 1999, 2000).

Haverinen et al. (1999b, 2002) reported on a case study of a Finnish upper secondary school before and after comprehensive repairs of moisture damage (see Haverinen et al., 1999a). Self-administered student health symptoms questionnaires, technical inspections, and relevant IEQ sampling were conducted. For students attending the school and responding to the questionnaire twice (1996 and 1997, n=157 of 245) or three times (1996, 1997, 1999, n=49), their paired, individual level observations were examined. Results showed significant (p<0.05 or better) declines in the prevalence of eight symptoms at first follow up, including rhinitis and difficulties in concentration. The crude prevalence was lower for 11 symptoms -- including rhinitis, asthma,

eye symptoms -- but higher for eight symptoms at second follow-up. Though the small sample size likely precluded significant findings at second follow-up, the authors stated overall results suggested no new cases of symptomatic students were expected after repairs.

Rudblad et al. (2000, 2001) reported results of a study of a Swedish school with a long history of dampness. Staff and 1<sup>st</sup> grade students (90, 45 each from damp and reference schools) were included. They used, before and one year after renovation, a standardized health questionnaire and two types of quantitative health symptom tests—mucosal sensitivity based on a nasal histamine provocation test, and presence of atopy based on a skin prick test. No differences were observed among students from the damp and reference schools. However, in the damp school after renovations, differences were seen among staff and students—staff demonstrated more mucosal symptoms, but prevalence of atopy among students was about a factor of two higher. These results suggested possible differential susceptibility, in problem and non-problem (or post-renovation) buildings, due to age, gender, underlying health status, and/or agents not studied.

Patovirta et al. (2003) conducted a case study of one moisture-damaged school and one reference school in Finland with teacher health questionnaires, spirometry, and blood samples in the spring before (1997) and after (1999 and 2000) remediation was completed. Asthma prevalence at baseline among participants in the moisture and mold-damaged school (n=31) was 26%, but no new cases appeared during follow-up after repairs. In addition, eye irritation and several respiratory symptoms decreased in prevalence during follow-up.

Three markers in nasal lavage fluid of the inflammatory potential of airborne microbial agents, collected from staff (n=28) in a moisture-damaged Finnish school, were significantly increased (p<0.01 for each) during the working period compared to a vacation period (Roponen, 2003).

Other studies in Nordic countries have reported measurements of allergy, respiratory symptoms, and infections among students in moisture and mold-damaged schools or day care centers (Koskinen et al., 1995; Taskinen et al., 1997, 1999; Savilahti et al., 2001). There were also studies with skin-prick tests (Immonen et al., 2001) and of the effect of exposure to airborne  $(1\rightarrow 3)$ -beta-D-glucan (Rylander, 1997; Rylander et al., 1998) or to a microbial disinfectant introduced through the ventilation system (Sesline et al., 1994).

## Biological, non-infectious agents in air and dust Bacteria and fungi, and cell wall components or metabolites

In several case studies in Finland and the U.S., the most common fungal groups reported from culturable indoor air samples were *Penicillium*, *Cladosporium*, *Aspergillus*, yeasts, and non-sporulating isolates (Sigsgaard et al., 1999, 2000; Kalliokoski et al., 2000, 2002; Meklin et al., 2002a; Morey et al., 2002; Barry et al., 2003). Total culturable airborne bacteria as well as cell envelope components have also been measured (Liu et al., 2000). A laboratory-based environmental chamber study with samples of materials used in school construction and interiors identified metabolites, most of which were non-reactive, from microbes growing on particleboard, gypsum board, and wood (Claeson et al., 2002). However, potentially odorous aldehyde emissions decreased during microbial growth.

Kalliokoski et al. (2002) assessed kitchens, dining halls, and classrooms of six moisture-damaged schools and two reference schools within the Finnish school study population already described. Average total airborne concentrations of culturable fungi, across study areas within buildings, were higher in the moisture-damaged than reference schools, and the difference was statistically significant in the classrooms.

Smedje et al. (1996b) studied measured indoor pollutant concentrations in 96 classrooms and self-administered questionnaire responses on health symptoms of 1410 adult employees (85% response) from 38 participant schools (of 40 randomly selected) in county of Uppsala, Sweden. They reported a significant association between physician-diagnosed asthma and total airborne fungi (odds ratio (OR) 1.6, 95% CI 1.1-2.7, p=0.023) and four microbially produced volatile organic compounds (MVOCs; OR ranged 1.2-3.8, 95% CI did not include 1, p<0.05). Sahlberg et al. (2002) studied sick building syndrome symptoms (SBS) among school staff in the same schools. They repeated questionnaires three times (1993→ 1410 participants or 85%, 1995, 1997) and IEQ measures twice (98 classrooms in 1993, 101 classrooms in 1995). They reported a positive, significant association between total airborne bacteria (number m⁻³) and eye symptoms (adjusted OR 2.5 per 10-fold increase, 95% CI 1.3-4.9, p<0.01). The Copenhagen school study also reported a significant association between visible moisture damage with mold growth and increased prevalence of SBS (Meyer, 1999).

Norbäck et al. (2002) assessed 1414 participating students from 10 schools in Shanghai, China (of 1435, 99%) with a self-administered questionnaire in winter 2000. In 30 home-classrooms, indoors and outdoors, qualitative inspections and quantitative sampling of airborne total and viable (culturable) bacteria and fungi as well as MVOC, and settled dust for markers of these biological agents, were conducted. Forty-five percent of the students reported respiratory infections, which were positively and significantly associated with culturable airborne fungi (p=0.04), culturable airborne bacteria (p=0.02), and a MVOC, 3-methylfuran (p=0.04). Studies in Taiwan have also suggested indoor exposure to bioaerosols may have health implications in schools (Su et al., 2001) and child care centers (Li et al., 1997a-b).

#### Allergens

Allergens in floor and surface dust in school classrooms, which likely were transported on children's clothes from homes (Berge et al., 1998), may influence the prevalence and severity of asthma symptoms and allergies (Dybendal et al., 1989; Dybendal and Elsayed, 1992; Munir et al., 1993; Dotterud et al., 1997; Patchett et al., 1997; Perzanowski et al., 1999a-b; Almqvist et al., 1999, 2001; Smedje and Norbäck, 2001a-b; Douwes et al., 2003). Pollen allergen, however, is predominantly from outdoor air (Kvernes et al., 1999; Matson et al., 2002).

Wady et al. (2003) sampled allergens and microbial components in settled dust in two schools (one rural, one urban) in each of Jordan, Poland, and Sweden. Dust was collected on plates suspended from ceilings at children's breathing zones. Though the marker of bacterial biomass exhibited minimal variation, markers of identified groups and fungal biomass varied considerably. These results suggested different potential exposures to microorganisms inside school classrooms between countries, seasons, and urban versus rural settings.

Ramachandran et al. (2002) compared IEQ and outdoor measures at a newer school building with an older school building in metropolitan Minneapolis, MN. Reported measurements were below current sensitization or symptoms guidelines (IOM, 1993; AIHA, 1996) for cat allergen (*Fel d 1*, 8 ug g-1) and dust mites *Der p 1* and *Der f 1* (2 µg g<sup>-1</sup> or 10 µg g<sup>-1</sup>, respectively). Also, most cockroach allergen (*Bla g 1*) measurements were low (<MDL (method detection limit) to 3 µg g<sup>-1</sup>). Tortolero and colleagues (2002) assessed 385 classrooms in 60 elementary schools in southeast Texas. They reported only 2.5% of rooms had *Der f 1* exceeding recommended guidelines, and only 10% of rooms were over the recommended threshold for *Bla g 1* though it was found in every school. These findings may reflect adequate cleaning practices. Wickman et al. (1999) examined the effect of general cleaning, ventilation, and occupant pet ownership on allergen levels in day care centers.

Floor dust was collected from 23 classrooms in county of Uppsala, Sweden, where floors were cleaned daily by staff and desks wiped by students 1-5 times per week. Floor dust was also collected from 30 classrooms in Shanghai, China, where students cleaned floors and desks daily. Four allergens (*Der p 1* and *Der f 1*, *Bla g 1*, and mold allergen *Alternaria alternata*, *Alt a 1*) were never reported above MDL. Again, these results were likely due to the good cleaning practices. Furthermore, *Fel d 1*, dog (*Can f 1*), and horse (*Equ cx*) allergens were almost always below MDL in the Chinese schools, but always much higher than the MDLs in the Swedish schools. One could infer this was not only because of cultural characteristics and outdoor surroundings, but also because of the relatively higher frequency of reported desk cleaning among schools in Shanghai. (Mi et al., 2002)

A mechanical HVAC system with a common fine filter has been demonstrated to remove 95-99% of birch tree pollen grain allergen (*Bet v 1*), depending on the filter efficiency rating (Ekberg et al., 2000). Matson et al. (2002) measured indoor and outdoor air concentrations of *Bet v 1* in one pre-school and one day care center in Sweden. Indoor/outdoor ratios (I/O) were below one, confirming the dominant outdoor source. The I/O was over a factor of three lower when the HVAC was off, windows were closed, and occupant activity was minimal compared to when the HVAC was on, windows were open, and occupant activity was high. When windows were closed but the HVAC on and activity high, the relative difference was about a factor of two. These results suggested several open windows, relative to operation of the mechanical HVAC system with filtration, drove indoor *Bet v 1* levels.

#### Summary: Biological agents

In conclusion, these studies collectively suggested remediation of moisture and mold-damaged school buildings, particularly classrooms, and primary prevention through diligent operations, maintenance, and cleaning practices, improved IEQ and occupant health. In addition, the studies on measurements of biological agents in school classrooms around the world collectively suggested levels in air and surface dust are generally low relative to outdoors, especially when good hygiene practices are present.

#### Chemical Agents and Particles

Toxic and odorous volatile organic compounds (VOCs)

Materials used to construct and furnish portable classrooms, and traditional school buildings especially if new or modernized, may off-gas toxic and odorous volatile organic compounds (VOCs) including formaldehyde (HCHO) and acetaldehyde as a function of age, temperature, and relative humidity (Lewis, 1991; CARB, 1993; Hodgson et al., 1993, 1999, 2000, 2001, 2002, 2003; Norbäck, 1995; Zhang et al., 1994; Kelly et al., 1999; Claeson et al., 2002). Associations between emissions from such materials and other indoor sources with adverse child respiratory outcomes were investigated (Jaakkola et al., 1999, 2000; Herbarth et al., 2003). These studies included potential exposure to HCHO, a known human sensory and respiratory irritant (CARB, 1991; USEPA, 2003a) and allergen (Wantke et. al, 1996; Garrett et. al, 1999). Nikolic (2000) studied IEQ over 20 consecutive winter days in classrooms of two primary schools in Nis, Yugoslavia; "school 1" was located in an industrial zone near a busy street, and "school 2" was situated away from major outdoor pollution sources and enclosed by vegetation. Low integrated daily indoor HCHO concentrations were associated with no new construction materials and furnishings; measured concentrations in "school 1" were relatively higher than in "school 2" possibly due to relative proximity to primary and secondary ambient HCHO sources.

Several VOCs, especially odorous compounds, and potential endocrine disrupters and neurotoxicants including phthalates, have been found in constituents of various consumer products and measured in indoor air of homes, offices, and schools. These included personal care products (hair, facial beauty, nail polish and remover), cleaning compounds, and teaching supplies and materials (Wallace et al., 1991, Hodgson, 1999; CARB, 1991, 1993, 2001; Smedje and Norback, 2001a; Martins et al., 2003). The European Union task force on school IEQ cited the presence of multiple VOC sources such as paints, cleaners, interior finish materials and furnishings (Carrer et al., 2002). A recent laboratory toxicology study reported acute respiratory irritations and behavioral abnormalities in normal mice after exposure to eight different felt-tip markers and a white dry-erase board cleaning solution, which emitted a mixture of VOCs (Anderson and Anderson, 2003). School studies have suggested the use of chemical cleaning compounds and air fresheners during occupied hours and/or during overnight custodial cleaning, when there was likely inadequate ventilation, drove measured concentrations of VOCs (Cavallo et al., 1993; Torres et al., 2002; Shendell, 2003; Shendell et al., 2002d, 2003a; Batterman et al., 2003a).

Reactive, unsaturated organic chemical compounds (e.g., d-limonene, alpha- and beta-pinene), which are common constituents of cleaning compounds with recognizable odors, and other VOCs in heterogeneous reactions on indoor surfaces, especially in the presence of ozone entering from the outdoors, may produce concentrations of other pollutants of health concern. These include fine and ultrafine particles and oxidation products. (Wainman et al., 2000; Wolkoff et al., 2000; Fielder et al., 2002; Klenø and Wolkoff, 2002; Rohr et al., 2002; Wilkins et al., 2002; Fan et al., 2003).

Building interior finish materials and furniture: "sources" and "sinks" of VOCs and particles

Carpets and other flooring surfaces, adhesives, and office equipment typically found in schools such as photocopiers and laser printers, have been demonstrated in laboratory environmental chamber and field studies to be sources of VOCs (Hansen et al., 1987; Hodgson et al., 2001, 2002, 2003; Lee et al., 2003). Other studies focused on carpets and open shelves (flat, exposed

surfaces) as sinks for and thus sources of indoor pollutants such as dust, which can contain particles, allergens, and/or pesticide residues (e.g., Hansen et al., 1987). Floor carpets, which can cover a large surface area and vary in pile thickness, can hold a large quantity of dust unless properly vacuumed. In a study of 181 classrooms in 48 schools in the county of Uppsala, Sweden (Smedje and Norbäck, 1999a), HCHO concentrations and settled dust were higher in classrooms with more fabrics (p<0.05) and with more open shelves (p<0.001). This finding persisted after adjusting for measured ventilation rates, which correlated (p<0.01) with several IEQ measures.

Particles generated, tracked in as soil, and/or re-suspended, including pesticide residues

Particles with aerodynamic diameters in the respirable ranges—coarse (2.5-10  $\mu$ m), fine (0.1-2.5  $\mu$ m), and ultrafine (< 0.1  $\mu$ m) – are of public health concern. Numerous studies have supported their role, when measured in ambient air, personal air, and in the indoor air of residential or occupational settings, in adverse respiratory and cardiovascular outcomes. Sources of particles in schools include soil tracked in from the outside; re-suspension from carpets or smooth flooring acting as reservoirs (sinks), as a function of occupant activity and overall maintenance (cleaning); penetration of the building envelope from the outdoors; delivery through a mechanical HVAC system with insufficient filtration; and, generated by combustion sources within buildings (e.g., boiler room). For example, Elfman et al. (2000) conducted a case study of the reopening of a refurbished, thoroughly cleaned school in Sweden. Airborne levels of particles increased over the first two months and varied due to occupant activity.

Few studies have been conducted regarding pesticide residues, and/or metals and polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons of potential health concern, in settled dust collected from carpets, smooth flooring, and other surfaces inside classrooms. Insecticides and pesticides inside classrooms (Fischer and Eikmann, 1996) or on school grounds may be used in varying quantities, frequencies, duration, and times of day and seasons. In the California Portable Classrooms Study (CARB, 2003c), chlorpyrifos was found above MDL in over 80% of monitored portable and traditional classrooms. Morgan et al. (2003) presented preliminary results on concentrations of chlorpyrifos and its metabolite, 3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinol, in day care centers of 130 recruited North Carolina pre-school age children. Levels in dust were about 1-2 orders of magnitude relatively higher than in samples from adjacent outdoor soil, hand wipes, indoor air, and urine. Wilson et al. (2003) reported preliminary results (1<sup>st</sup> year) of a pesticide exposure study of preschool children. Chlorpyrifos has been subjected to a mandatory phase out of its sale and use in homes and schools since late 2001. However, use of existing stock purchased prior to federal and local legislation could occur in homes and schools, with or without proper notice. Thus, measured concentrations could represent recent and/or historical use.

A study of senior high school students and personnel (8853 and 1023, respectively, 16 schools) in metropolitan Stockholm reported a high prevalence of dust and dirt, and high indoor air temperatures, as perceived IEQ problems from self-administered surveys (Andersson et al., 2002). Reported symptoms were higher among students, and females in general. In the previously described Swedish study by Sahlberg et al. (2002) of SBS among school staff, there was a positive and significant association between respiratory dust ( $\sim$ PM<sub>10</sub>) and respiratory infections (adjusted OR 1.31 per 10  $\mu$ g m<sup>-3</sup> increase, 95% CI 1.06-1.58, p<0.05). Smedje and

Norbäck (1999b) conducted a study with two separate rounds of classroom assessments and self-administered questionnaires of 1476 pupils (of 2034 invited) between ages 7-13 from 39 schools (of 40 randomly selected) in county of Uppsala, Sweden. Students attending schools with higher amounts of measured settled dust on floors and furniture and dog allergen had a higher incidence of current asthma symptoms. However, asthma symptoms were lower among students attending schools where new HVAC systems had been installed between the two investigations in 1993 and 1995. These results may reflect how mechanical HVAC systems, which filter the combination of fresh outdoor air and recycled indoor air, can reduce indoor levels of dust particles and constituents. Nevertheless, some studies have suggested, based on laboratory experiments and office building assessments, HVAC system filters can be sources of chemical and microbiological pollutants including odors (e.g., Souto and de Oliveira Fernandes, 2000).

The Copenhagen study on school facility conditions and building related symptoms (BRS), based on 7884 of 11978 returned employee and student self-administered questionnaires, included 75 schools and 78 of 112 identified classrooms. Among the results, data suggested the *in vitro* inflammatory potentials of settled dusts collected from floors were significantly higher (p<0.0001) among the ten schools with the highest mean prevalence of eight reported BRS ("worst") compared to the ten "best" schools. The substance within the dust's organic fraction causing inflammatory potential was not identified. (Meyer et al., 1999; Allermann et al., 2002).

Norbäck et al. (2000) and Wålinder et al. (1999, 2000, 2001) reported on the use of acoustic rhinometry, nasal patency, and nasal lavage fluid biomarkers as quantitative indicators of effects of settled dusts, cleaning practices and products, and building characteristics, in Swedish schools.

Carbon monoxide and combustion-related pollutants from nearby outdoor sources

Sahlberg et al. (2002) reported low levels of carbon monoxide (CO) in a previously described Swedish school study (average 0.2 µg m<sup>-3</sup>, range <0.1-0.9). Shendell (2003) reported CO concentrations inside Los Angeles Unified School District portable classrooms of varying ages in winter 2001. The mean and median weekend and daily morning and afternoon integrated averages were low (< 2 parts-per-million (ppm)). However, the maximum reported indoor value was on a morning when researchers observed and teachers reported medium-sized diesel and gasoline fueled trucks idling while delivering supplies for the cafeteria and main office stockroom before and into school hours. The specific influence of school buses, particularly conventional, older buses powered by high or low sulfur diesel fuel, on children's exposures was recently studied by the University of California (CARB, 2003a; Fitz et al., 2003; Behrentz et al., 2003; Sabin et al., 2003; Winer et al., 2003). Although the study focused on the range of exposures inside buses during different commuting routes, under various defined conditions, there were specific aspects of their findings and concurrent policy actions relevant to school IEQ. Loading and unloading children at the participating schools contributed less to overall commuterelated exposures, due to the low concentrations in ambient air found at those locations and the relatively shorter lengths of time involved. The investigators made several recommendations to reduce children's exposure to bus-related pollutants, including reducing idling time. In December 2002-July 2003, the California Air Resources Board initiated and approved an airborne toxic control measure (CARB, 2003b). This action limits school bus idling prevalence and duration within 100 feet of school buildings (e.g., < 30 seconds while loading students at school). Similarly, the USEPA initiated in April 2003 the "Clean School Bus USA Program" to

reduce unnecessary idling and to increase the retrofitting or replacement of older diesel school buses (USEPA, 2003b).

In summary, neither buses nor trucks powered by diesel or gasoline engines should be allowed to remain idling near school facility outdoor air intake vents, which is particularly a concern for portable classrooms or buildings with wall-mount, not rooftop, HVAC systems. Such a policy would reduce indoor concentrations of CO, particles, and other vehicle-related combustion pollutants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and nitrogen oxides.

## Physical Agents and Related Characteristics of Schools

Direct measures, or carbon dioxide concentrations as indicators, of inadequate ventilation

Portable and traditional classrooms including childcare facilities are usually more dependent on mechanical ventilation to provide fresh outside air than windows, if operable, and doors. ASHRAE Standard 62 (1999) stated 15 ft<sup>3</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> person<sup>-1</sup> of filtered outdoor air should be supplied to the occupied indoor space. Review articles (Angell and Daisey, 1997; Daisey and Angell, 1998; Daisey et al., 2003) have stated reported ventilation and CO<sub>2</sub> data from the U.S., including federal NIOSH investigations, indicated inadequate outdoor air ventilation in many school classrooms and poor HVAC system maintenance. A USEPA school evaluation program for radon reduction (26 schools, eight regions) found most schools did not meet current standards for school ventilation (Chmelynski and Leovic, 1992; Parker, 1992). Each school reported having one or more ventilation problems, and the various HVAC systems were usually not designed or operated properly. One case study examined effects of operable window installation in a "sealed" school without mechanical HVAC (Landrus et al., 1987).

The California Energy Commission (1995) found measured ventilation rates (air changes per hour, ACH or AER, hr<sup>-1</sup>) in one-third of classrooms tested were < 50% of the level required by state codes and ASHRAE Standard 62. Quantitative measurements of ventilation rates for school classrooms have also been conducted during unoccupied hours with sulfur hexafluoride tracer gas decay (Shaughnessy et al., 1997; Turk et al., 1997) and during occupied hours with a non-toxic perfluorocarbon tracer gas (Shendell, 2003; Shendell et al., 2003b). Ruotsalainen et al. (1993) reported quantitative spot measurements of exhaust air flow as an indicator of ventilation system performance in day care centers in Espoo (metropolitan Helsinki), Finland at the time of measured equilibrium carbon dioxide (CO<sub>2</sub>) levels.

Measured indoor air concentrations of CO<sub>2</sub>, produced by human respiration, and CO<sub>2</sub> decay curves have been used worldwide as indicators of inadequate ventilation in schools. (Bakke and Levy, 1990; Norbäck et al., 1990; Thorstensen et al., 1990; Kurnitski and Enberg, 1997; Myhrvold and Olsen, 1997; Rodríguez et al., 1997; Shaughnessy et al., 1997; Turk et al., 1997; Lee and Chang, 1999, 2000; Smedje and Norbäck, 1999a; Braganza et al., 2000; Scheff et al., 2000; Kinshella et al., 2001; Corsi et al., 2002; Pasanen et al., 2002; Prill et al., 2002; Ramachandran et al., 2002; Ribéron et al., 2002; Sowa, 2002; Tortolero et al., 2002; Batterman et al., 2003b; Fox et al., 2003)

A European Union task force, which examined 73 journal papers or conference proceedings from 1990-2000 on IEQ in European schools, reported inadequate ventilation in schools as indicated

by elevated CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations and relative humidity (Carrer et. al, 2002). After new ventilation systems were installed in 12 of 100 classrooms in the 39 randomly selected schools in the previously described Swedish school study in county of Uppsala, Smedje and Norbäck (2000) reported the measured AER increased and concentrations of several monitored pollutants as well as relative humidity declined. In 15 Finnish school buildings, which received ventilation renovations (mechanical or natural), although indoor air temperatures remained high before (mean 23°C) and after (mean 22°C) renovations, the measured indoor CO<sub>2</sub> concentration range decreased from 1200-2400 ppm to <1250 ppm (Jalas et al., 2000).

Gunnarsen (2000) reported on a historically poorly maintained Danish school and the remediation of its mechanical ventilation system, windows, temperature controls, and ceiling heights. The interventions resulted in some IEQ improvements due to enhanced user controls. Hunter (1990) reported on interventions in a windowless secondary school in Toronto, Canada to improve the mechanical HVAC system-- increasing outdoor air intake and air circulation, new humidification system and heat exchangers. The result was quantitative compliance with thermal comfort guidelines.

## Indoor air temperature and relative humidity, thermal comfort

Ventilation, mechanical and/or natural through windows, also affects occupant thermal comfort, a combination of indoor air temperature (T) and relative humidity (RH) as well as air velocity and clothing; ASHRAE Standard 55 (1992) provides guidelines for acceptable occupant thermal comfort during winter (heating season) and summer (cooling season). However, ASHRAE Standard 55 (1992) was developed for adults, typically in the office environment, and it is not known how well these conditions apply to children in school environments. Furthermore, the Standard 55 guidelines may not always be appropriate for tropical climates such as Hawaii (Kwok, 1997, 1998). Indoor air T and RH are also influenced by occupants through occupant density and their activity levels, i.e., respiration and perspiration. School studies in Las Vegas (Shaughnessy et al., 1997), Santa Fe, NM (Turk et al., 1997), Los Angeles (Shendell, 2003; Shendell et al., 2003b), Copenhagen, Denmark (Thorstensen et al., 1990) and Uppsala, Sweden (Smedje and Norback, 1999a; Sahlberg et al., 2002) reported measured AER, T, and RH.

The recently completed LBNL relocatable classroom (RC) study (Apte et al., 2002, 2003) suggested mechanical ventilation, natural ventilation as desired and possible, and appropriate teacher T set points could allow RCs to achieve both good IEQ and compliance with acceptable seasonal T and RH ranges in ASHRAE Standard 55 (1992). In the LBNL study, though there was negligible vertical T stratification when HVAC systems operated, when ASHRAE Standard 55 was not met it was usually due to measured indoor air RH. In the LBNL and UCLA school studies (Shendell et al., 2002b, 2003b; Shendell, 2003), indoor air T and RH measured adjacent to the dry-erase board at three different heights, and/or near the teacher work station at standing height, were influenced by several factors. These included afternoon cooling and morning heating demands on mechanical HVAC system operation; attributes of the mechanical HVAC system technologies; occupants; ambient conditions; and, teacher T set point preferences.

Measures of indoor air RH can also serve as indicators of condensation build-up on interior surfaces, and thus potential moisture damage of materials and subsequent mold growth. For example, Bates and Mahaffy (1996) investigated 13 classrooms in six schools in Florida. Indoor

air and carpet concentrations of dust mite allergens and airborne culturable fungi, relative to outdoors, were low. Nevertheless, reported occupant health complaints and musty odors, and visible mold, were associated with higher (> 70%) average indoor air RH.

## A-weighted Noise Levels

Noise is any unwanted, extraneous sound. People can detect minute changes in sound level; an increase of three A-weighted decibels (dB (A)) is just noticeable, five dB (A) is clearly noticeable, and 10 dB (A) is considered twice as loud (ASHRAE, 1989). At birth, the human inner ear has completely developed; hair cells and nerve fibers cannot regenerate once destroyed by noise (Lancet, 1991; Clark and Bohne, 1999; WHO, 2001b). Children, during their formative years of academic development, require better acoustic quality than adults in classrooms, especially given good speech recognition is necessary for optimal comprehension and learning during the processes of language and reading acquisition (WHO, 2001a-b). Children are ineffective listeners to speech (i.e., cannot hear and understand) in noise until adolescence (Nelson, 2003). Children with hearing impairments, and learning and/or attention disorders, are especially susceptible and have unique needs, as do those learning in a second language (Nelson, 2003).

Typical classroom sources of noise are listed below.

- 1. Noise from the outdoors, such as playgrounds, construction, and nearby traffic.
- 2. Mechanical noise, for example, when the HVAC system and adjacent classroom surfaces vibrate to produce airborne noise. A survey by Parker (1992) found the unit ventilator was the most popular HVAC system in U.S. schools, but noise and operating limitations—the fan must always be on to effectively provide adequate ventilation—have reduced its popularity.
- 3. Noise from other indoor sources. These include occupants, TV/VCR, and lighting ballasts and dimmers (transformer humming), including reverberation.

There have been to our knowledge, however, few published scientific studies on quantitative exposure to noise levels in American school classrooms due to indoor and outdoor sources, although non-regulatory guidelines have been established (see Appendix I). One study was conducted in New Zealand (Blake and Busby, 1994). A study conducted by the University of Florida at Gainsville suggested noisy classrooms may hinder student learning ability; students had difficulty hearing the teacher when > 12 feet away and noise levels exceeded the average background of 50 dB (A), even though normal conversation is about 60 dB (A) (Wakefield, 2002). Braganza et al. (2000) reported on one of the USEPA school IEQ demonstration studies. One set of measurements Tuesday-Thursday during occupied hours at four indoor sites and one outdoor location per school were conducted at eight public schools across the U.S. prior to energy efficiency retrofits and interventions, e.g., implementation of USEPA Tools for Schools. Across the eight schools, mean sound levels ranged 45-62 dB (A) and the maximum five-minute sound levels ranged 70-81 dB (A). These data were consistent with the recent study of new California RCs by LBNL (Apte et al., 2002, 2003; Shendell et al., 2002b-c)-- mean school day L<sub>eq</sub> across classrooms and wall-mount HVAC systems were approximately 56 dB (A). There was one previous study in California schools in traditional buildings (CDE, 1986).

The acoustic design goal for a mechanical HVAC system, where specific noise control techniques are a function of space-use requirements, is usually a low-level background sound

(ASHRAE, 1989). Measurements in dB (A) compensate for the human ear's lower sensitivity to lower frequency and very high frequency sounds (ASHRAE, 1989). Thus, though dB (A) correlates well with human judgment of relative loudness, the metric does not correlate as well with human judgment of relative noisiness or subjective sound quality, i.e., comparing sounds with distinct spectral or tonal characteristics including frequency (ASHRAE, 1989). High-frequency sounds may be relatively more hazardous to human hearing, and high-frequency, intermittent, and impulsive sounds may be more annoying due to their temporal unpredictability. A large proportion of low-frequency components in noise may have adverse effects (WHO, 2001a).

Scientific evidence has suggested chronic noise exposure in communities near air, road, and/or rail traffic, as a stress and distracting stimulus, can lead to noise-induced hearing loss, annoyance, sleep disturbance, stress, mental health and behavior problems, and decreased school performance and cognitive delays. These include trouble with word discrimination, reading, problem solving, memorization, and interference with speech communication. There was also evidence of elevated blood pressure and heart disease in adults and children. (Slater, 1968; Wyon, 1970; McLean and Tarnopolsky, 1977; Ising et. al, 1980, 1990; Gunn et. al, 1981; Cohen and Weinstein, 1981; Westman and Walters, 1981; DeJoy, 1984; Siebert, 1989; Clark, 1991; Duncan et. al, 1993; Powers, 1993; Sanz et. al, 1993; Bond, 1996; Soli and Sullivan, 1997; Evans et. al, 1998, 2001; Lercher et. al, 1998, 2002; Maxwell and Evans, 2000; Passchier-Vermeer and Passchier, 2000; Booker, 2001; Haines et. al, 2001a-c, 2002a-b, 2003; Manlove et. al, 2001; WHO, 2001 a-b; Van Kamp et al., 2002, 2003; van Kempen et. al, 2002; Wakefield, 2002; Jovanovic, 2003).

## Fluorescent lighting and daylighting

Lighting and daylighting through windows and skylights have recently been studied in relation to physical development and academic performance (Hathaway, 1995; Heschong Mahone Group, 1999). In addition, the study by Sahlberg et al. (2002) of SBS among Swedish school staff reported several relevant findings. Illumination (per 100 lux increase) and lighting effect (per 10 W m<sup>-2</sup> increase) were significantly associated with decreased fatigue, a general symptom (adjusted OR (95% CI) of 0.90 (0.84-0.99) and 0.59 (0.38-0.90), respectively, p<0.05). Lighting effect (per 10 W m<sup>-2</sup> increase) was also significantly associated with fewer eye symptoms (adjusted OR (95% CI) 0.43 (0.21-0.90), p<0.05). The daylight factor, which was based on each 10% increase in window area (m<sup>2</sup>) per floor surface area (m<sup>2</sup>), was significantly associated with fewer headaches, a general symptom (adjusted OR (95% CI) 0.62 (0.39-0.99), p<0.05).

Newer, improved fluorescent light bulbs, fixtures, and electronic ballasts may provide energy, economic, and pollution reduction benefits due to longer life spans and changes in component materials. At present, there is little peer-reviewed published data for conclusions on health and performance in schools due to relative advantages or disadvantages of artificial versus natural light. However, work emerging on this topic suggests benefits to daylighting. We can thus support some comments. First, glare from incident sunlight on to or reflecting off surfaces (e.g., desks, computer screens) should be reduced to the extent practical. Second, there is a guideline regarding quantity of light to be provided indoors to students (IENSA, 2000 discussed in Shendell et al., 2002b): 50 foot-candles for low contrast materials, 30 foot-candles for high

contrast materials. Third, student desks should not be placed directly in front of windows due to the potential negative impact on learning (reading) and thermal comfort. Finally, when indirect natural light through windows or skylights is sufficient, fluorescent lights should be turned off. This will save energy and money and assist school occupants whose health and learning are affected by artificial light, a condition termed Irlen Syndrome or Scotopic Sensitivity Syndrome. The condition is caused by hypersensitivity to the physical properties within light sources (spectrum of colors, wavelengths). Several medical studies have examined this class of learning disabilities in school children, which includes reading disorders and attention deficits (Lehmkuhle et al., 1993; Robinson et al., 1995). Other medical studies have examined the practicality and short and long-term efficacy of interventions for children, e.g., Irlen tinted lenses, colored versus clear plastic transparencies on books (Robinson and Miles, 1987; Saint-John and White, 1988; Whiting et al., 1988; Cotton and Evans, 1990; O'Connor et al., 1990; Robinson and Conway, 1990, 1994; Williams et al., 1992; Menaker et al., 1993; Tyrrell et al., 1995; Jeanes et al., 1997).

## Persistent organic pollutants and possible endocrine-disrupting chemicals: Present concerns possibly present in older schools

Polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs) are likely present in schools with fluorescent light fixtures not replaced after 1979. PCBs, with low electrical conductivity, had been used in the small magnetic capacitors and in the insulating potting material (USEPA, 2001). Newer, more energy-efficient, and higher quality light producing T-8 or T-5 electronic capacitor-based ballasts, which are generally recommended for "green," sustainable design, do not contain PCBs. U.S. production of PCBs stopped in 1978 under the Toxic Substances Control Act of 1976. Older ballasts breakdown and become susceptible to leaks and fires, hence accidental exposures to PCBs.

PCBs and other persistent organic pollutants, especially endocrine-disrupting chemicals, have been shown in ecotoxicology and laboratory toxicology studies to mimic hormones across gender and disrupt the endocrine system. These changes might lead to other adverse health consequences, e.g., child neurobehavioral and physical development, reproductive health of young female teachers (Gabrio et al., 2000; Heindel, 2000; Suk et al., 2003). Potential exposures of young children at school may occur due to mouthing, chewing, or gnawing soft, flexible toys and other materials containing or covered with residues of such chemicals. The present concerns include pesticide residues, fertilizers on grounds, and plasticizers including phthalates. Phthalates can be found in foods, consumer products, and certain interior finish materials (Jaakkola et al., 1999, 2000; Simoneau, 2003; Suk et al., 2003).

The phthalates of high present concern in the media and to governments in Europe, Japan, and the U.S. are di-2-ethylhexyl phthalate (DEHP), dibutylphthlate (DBP), diethylphthlate (DEP), and diisononyl phthlate (DINP). DEHP was recently listed (October 24, 2003) by the California Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment, under Proposition 65 (Safe Drinking Water and Toxic Enforcement Act of 1986), as a known toxicant for developmental and male reproductive endpoints based on laboratory toxicology studies (OEHHA, 2003). In 1986, the U.S. started a voluntary agreement with manufacturers to remove or limit phthalates in plastic, soft flexible toys. The European Union and Japan recently established bans on DINP and/or DEHP to protect pre-school children (<3 and <6, respectively).

Polyvinyl chloride (PVC) flooring contains plasticizers like phthalates, and because it is of low cost and easy to maintain and to clean, it has been used in school classrooms and other areas around sinks and lab benches. Koch et al. (2003) reported, based on first morning urine samples of 36 German kindergarten children ages 2-6 and 19 adult staff and parents, widespread exposure to DEHP, with levels of metabolites in urine higher in children than in adults tested. Jaakkola et al. (1999), in a matched case-control study of newborns (n=251 pairs) followed for two years, reported a significant elevated risk of bronchial obstruction when PVC flooring was present compared to wood or parquet flooring (adjusted OR 1.89, 95% CI 1.14-3.14). In a population-based cross-sectional study of 2553 Finnish children, though only about 3% reported the presence of plastic wall materials at home, there were statistically significant relationships between this crude exposure variable and lower respiratory tract symptoms (wheezing, coughing, phlegm production), but not asthma or pneumonia (Jaakkola et al., 2000). Nevertheless, overall, Longnecker et al.(2003), who led a conference seminar in 2000 on endocrine disruption for a group assisting initial planning of a proposed U.S. National Children's Study, reported present evidence is not strong for endocrine disruption in humans with background-level exposures.

## Asbestos, radon, and specific heavy metals of concern Asbestos

Exposure to asbestos through inhalation of loose fibers of this naturally occurring mineral substance, which can be found in ceilings and walls (e.g., fire retarding insulation on structural beams, soundproofing materials), has been shown to cause lung disease in humans and animals. Federal requirements for schools for inspection, notification, and containment in bound form or for the proper removal of loose, friable asbestos fibers (keep wet, seal off work area) were formally established by the Asbestos Hazard Emergency Response Act of 1986 (USEPA, 2003c).

### Radon

Radon is an inert, colorless, odorless, radioactive gas. Epidemiological studies have demonstrated a causal association between radon and lung cancer. Radon derives from uranium, which is present in soils and rock. The USEPA has published several reports with data and suggestions for the mitigation of radon gas entry into schools in geographically susceptible areas, due to known geology and soil conditions (USEPA, 1989, 1994; Chmelynski and Leovic, 1992; Leovic and Craig, 1994). These included discussions of design and construction of foundations and ventilation systems, and ventilation system installation, operations and maintenance issues. The California Department of Health Services conducted a statewide survey in elementary school classrooms in 1991-92 (Zhou et al., 1998). Schools were grouped by zip codes in three geographical regions based on bedrock geology uranium potential. Adjusted analyses suggested about 5% of California elementary schools had at least one classroom with average annual indoor air radon concentrations above the USEPA intervention action level, 4 picocuries L<sup>-1</sup>.

## Specific heavy metals

#### Arsenic

Arsenic can be found inside schools if it is tracked into the classroom in soil on shoes or clothing, especially after recess on playgrounds and in sandboxes near equipment constructed

with wood treated with certain preservatives, e.g., chromated copper arsenate (CCA). In addition, portable classrooms are usually sited on prepared areas, which include the use of CCA-treated wood to raise the modules above ground level to allow cross-ventilation. Certain pesticides used on school grounds may also contain arsenic (CARB, 2003c). The California Portable Classrooms Study reported some classrooms had levels of arsenic in settled floor dust above the MDL, and in relatively more portables than traditional classrooms (CARB, 2003c). The USEPA enacted a voluntary phase-out of CCA, and CCA is no longer on the approved list of chemical pesticides. New York State has banned new installations of CCA playground equipment and requires mitigating old equipment and playground surfaces.

#### Lead

One of the American public health goals, as stated in the environmental health focus area of "Healthy People 2010" (USCDC, 2003), was to eliminate the incidence of elevated blood lead levels in children ages 6 and under (current guideline defined as  $> 10~\mu g~dL^{-1}$ ). Likely sources of lead in school classrooms, as exhibited in some classroom settled floor dust samples from the California Portable Classrooms Study (CARB, 2003c) and samples of interior paint chips collected from older school buildings during a previous California survey (CDHS, 1998), were:

- 1. peeling or chipping paint applied prior to 1970, which contaminates dust on indoor surfaces or adjacent outdoor soil, since soil can be tracked in on shoes or enter through natural ventilation; and.
- 2. poorly contained and monitored renovation activities in the classroom or an adjacent area.

Nielsen et al. (2003) conducted an intervention case study in Denmark of children's exposure to lead in contaminated soil following adjacent outdoor playground activities (dermal, hand-to-mouth). There were two kindergartens with interventions and one reference kindergarten classroom, at different schools. Measurements in the soil and from child hand wipes before and 5-7 weeks post-intervention were in agreement and suggested the reduction of potential exposure to lead. Variations in the amount of lead on children's hands, however, also suggested variability introduced within and between individuals due to behaviors and playing patterns.

#### Mercury

Exposure to mercury, in its elemental or bioaccumulative organic (methylated) forms, has human and ecological health effects. In schools, older fluorescent bulbs contained mercury, but many new, energy efficient bulbs, which also produce higher quality light, do not. Some states like Vermont have banned mercury from light bulbs and required labeling. In addition, mercury may be present in secondary schools with chemistry laboratories, and in general in health clinics (thermometers) and thermostat and computer hardware. If potential sources are identified as present, they should be carefully contained and their use managed until replaced with alternatives and properly disposed of as hazardous waste. Also, new sources should not be introduced. To date, there are no clean up standards for spills inside schools. The USEPA and the University of Wisconsin have developed Internet sites on these topics (see Appendix I.1).

#### Practical science-based recommendations for short and long-term actions

A few conference papers (Bakke, 1999; Kumar, 1999; Sävenstrand et al., 1999), a university-based Region 10 initiative (WSU, 2002), and USEPA Internet sites ("IAQ Tools for Schools,"

"IAQ Design Tools for Schools," (see Appendix II.1) presented general and specific common sense, voluntary advice for schools regarding good IEQ in school facilities. We applaud these efforts, and information should be used as applicable. We present practical recommendations, for short and long-term actions, for school stakeholders based directly on the available science reviewed and summarized here on a broad range of IEQ topics (Tables 1-2).

Numerous studies in the Nordic countries of Denmark, Finland and Sweden, which documented observed positive effects of renovation of moisture damaged school buildings on measured IEQ parameters and occupant health complaints, were referenced. In summary, before renovations, there was a higher prevalence of reported respiratory and general symptoms among students and teachers responding to self-administered questionnaires in damaged compared to reference schools. After repairs, those differences did not exist or were not statistically significant. Thus, leaks and subsequent moisture damage of building and interior finish materials, including furnishings, should be prevented to avoid fungal and bacterial growth. Also, similarly, schools should replace wet, damaged materials, and completely dry out the underlying surface as soon as possible.

Frequently washing floors and other surfaces like desks would maintain good general hygiene and help minimize levels of airborne culturable bacteria and pet allergens transported to school classrooms on clothing. This recommendation, in effect, would protect children who are highly susceptible to such agents, especially pet allergens, and otherwise avoid exposure to them. Local policies can prohibit pets kept at school or cared for in classrooms.

It would be prudent to use non-toxic or least-toxic cleaners in school facilities, during unoccupied hours but not right before the start of school or near the end of lunch break, as well as non-toxic or least toxic teaching supplies. Implementation of this recommendation would minimize potential exposures and risks from toxic and odorous VOCs, including byproducts of their reactions on surfaces in the presence of ozone from outdoors. A related recommendation to minimize occupant exposure to these chemical compounds would be to allow sufficient time for mechanical and natural ventilation to air out classrooms after being painted or receiving new furniture or teaching materials, e.g., those made of exposed particleboard, a HCHO source.

The following recommendations relate to ventilation. Many studies discussed in this paper provided evidence on the potential multiple IEQ, comfort, and health benefits of providing fresh, filtered outdoor air to occupied classrooms. Schools should ensure compliance with ASHRAE Standard 62, monitored over time with biannual or annual HVAC system inspections and more frequent inspections and replacements of filters. The goal should be to provide enhanced or at least adequate ventilation with filtration of particles and pollen allergens of outdoor origin. It is also known ambient ozone is destroyed on surfaces of HVAC systems when they are operational. Operable windows will enhance natural ventilation and should be available and used, depending on local weather conditions, local safety policies, and potential adjacent outdoor sources of pollution and noise. In addition, the design, installation, and commissioning of whole building or portable classroom wall or ceiling-mounted mechanical HVAC systems must consider year-round ambient conditions. Such precautions could prevent potential scenarios when water condensation builds up on interior surfaces, leading to moisture damage and subsequent microbial growth. Finally, during inspections, current classroom enrollment data should be

consulted so damper settings allow provision of sufficient fresh outdoor air (at least 15 ft<sup>3</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> per occupant).

In future revisions to Standard 55 on occupant thermal comfort in buildings, ASHRAE could consider criteria more specific to children and schools. An interesting discussion point is the potential trade off between acceptable thermal comfort and adequate ventilation in climates with higher ambient relative humidity, or if the HVAC technology either cannot dehumidify air or cools air using water vapor.

Given noise-induced hearing loss has no physical symptoms, the key to prevention is education (see Bahadori et. al. (1993), Clark and Bohne (1999)) and reduction of noise at the source with engineering controls or improved HVAC system technologies (ASHA, 1995; Seep et al., 2000). The recommendations below are indirectly related to mechanical HVAC systems or new construction.

- 1. Future case studies and surveys of school facilities should assess average occupant exposure to noise from present sources during school hours and, as resources allow, contract an acoustics specialist to determine spectral characteristics (e.g., frequency range) of potential sources and to ensure proper reverberation times.
- 2. In the LBNL study of new relocatable classrooms (Shendell et al., 2002b-c, Apte et al., 2002, 2003), examination of the minimum measured six-minute dB (A) data suggested alternate interior finish material classrooms had lower background noise levels than standard material classrooms. This may have been evidence of a secondary benefit from the alternative ceiling tiles, their higher noise reduction coefficient rating (NRC) (Shendell et al., 2002c). They were originally chosen since in laboratory environmental chamber experiments they were not HCHO sources (Hodgson et. al, 2001, 2002, 2003). As time and financial resources permit, interior finish material NRCs should be considered, especially for large surface areas. Reverberation time, the persistence of sound after the source itself stops or is removed from an unoccupied classroom, may also decrease (Knecht et al., 2002, Nelson, 2003).
- 3. Follow the example of a California policy, SB 352 (M. Escutia, October 2003), which stated not to build new schools near freeways due to health concerns from air pollution and noise.

With respect to persistent organic pollutants like PCBs and phthalates, few quantitative data from school environment studies exist. Thus, the appropriate recommendation appears to be to encourage primary prevention of exposure in classrooms. Reported guidelines and regulations for radon, asbestos, arsenic, lead and mercury are similar. Schools should remove and substitute potential sources of natural and/or synthetic chemicals known to be, or which may prove to be, hormonally active and of human health concern.

To date, even with federal Executive Order 13101, no federal program has strongly promoted or enforced pollution prevention policies (also called environmentally preferable) for the purchasing of school construction and interior finish materials or classroom teaching, maintenance, and cleaning supplies (APHA, 2001). In addition, a recent national survey (Jones et al., 2003) reported no local school policies related to HVAC systems, including supply air ducting, or IEQ except for environmental tobacco smoke. Nevertheless, limited case studies presented in this paper have demonstrated the institution of indoor air pollutant source controls and interventions to increase outdoor air ventilation in primary schools improved IEQ and lowered the prevalence of reported respiratory symptoms and sensory irritation. Thus, such

policies and more programs like the USEPA *Design Tools for Schools* internet site and the California Collaborative for High Performance Schools *Best Practices Manuals Volumes I-IV* (see Appendix II.1) are needed at federal and state levels to drive change in local school districts. Furthermore, for future school studies and general environmental public health tracking, programs with sustained funding are needed to record and monitor student illnesses as well as unintentional injuries incurred on school grounds.

According to a public health goal in the environmental health focus area of "Healthy People 2010" (USCDC, 2003), our recommendations could contribute towards a new reality. The goal stated, "increase the proportion of the nation's primary and secondary schools that have official school policies ensuring the safety of students and staff from environmental hazards, such as chemicals in special classrooms, poor indoor air quality, asbestos, and exposure to pesticides."

Table 1: School IEQ studies and highly related references identified						
and cited in the review, by type of reference and IEQ category used for						
(NOTE: an individual reference could be used more than once)						
<b>IEQ category</b> or the <i>IEQ</i>	Peer-	Conference	Government	Not-for-profit	Doctoral	
topic	reviewed	proceedings	(federal, CA or	-	theses	
	journal	or published	WA, or WHO)	reports or		
	papers	abstracts	final reports	professional		
			and guidance	association		
			documents	documents		
Biological agents	31	35	1	1	0	
Leaks, moisture damage	14	16	0	0	0	
Bacteria, Fungi	4	12	0	0	0	
Allergens	13	7	1	1	0	
Chemical agents and	20	34	13	0	2	
particles						
VOCs, toxic and odorous	15	16	7	0	1	
Interior finish materials and furniture as "sources" and "sinks"	0	4	2	0	0	
Particles, including pesticide residues	5	9	1	0	0	
Carbon monoxide and combustion-related	0	5	3	0	1	
pollutants from outdoors		- 10	4.4	_		
Physical agents and	65	42	11	7	3	
related characteristics of						
schools	1.1	25	2	1	1	
Measures of ventilation	11	25	3	1	1	
Thermal comfort (T, RH)	3	7	1	1	2	
A-weighted noise levels	37	9	6	4	0	
Fluorescent lighting and daylighting	14	1	1	1	0	
PCBs and phthalates	6	2	2	0	0	
Asbestos, radon, and specific heavy metals of concern	0	2	9	0	0	
Asbestos	0	0	1	0	0	
Radon	0	1	4	0	0	
Arsenic	0	0	1	0	0	
Lead	0	1	3	0	0	
Mercury	0	0	0	0	0	
Introduction and other background text	34	15	11	5	1	
No. times references used in total		130	47	13	6	
No. unique references (301 total)		<u>98</u>	42 (26+13+3)	<u>13</u>	<u>2</u>	
No. references used for multiple topics		32	5	0	1	

**Table 2**: Summary of recommendations for schools to improve indoor air and environmental quality in classrooms and other areas based on available science

Prevent leaks and subsequent moisture damage of building and interior finish materials, including furnishings.

Similarly, replace wet, damaged materials, including completely drying out the underlying surface, as soon as possible.

Frequently wash floors and other surfaces like desks, which occupants come into frequent contact with, to maintain good general hygiene and help minimize levels of airborne culturable bacteria and pet allergens.

Use non-toxic or least toxic cleaners in school facilities, during unoccupied hours but not right before the start of school or near the end of lunch break.

Use non-toxic or least toxic teaching supplies and materials.

Allow sufficient time for mechanical and natural ventilation to air out classrooms after being painted or receiving new furniture or teaching materials, e.g., those made of exposed particleboard, a formaldehyde source.

Ensure compliance with ASHRAE Standard 62, monitored over time with biannual or annual HVAC system inspections and more frequent inspections and replacements of filters. The goal should be to provide enhanced or at least adequate ventilation with filtration of particles and pollen allergens of outdoor origin. As possible, given weather conditions, local safety policies, and potential adjacent outdoor sources of pollution or noise, operable windows to add natural ventilation can also be used.

Design, installation, and commissioning of mechanical HVAC systems must consider year-round ambient conditions. Such precautions could prevent potential scenarios when water condensation builds up on interior surfaces, leading to moisture damage and subsequent microbial growth

During inspections, current classroom enrollment data should be consulted so damper settings allow provision of sufficient fresh outdoor air (at least 15 ft<sup>3</sup> min<sup>-1</sup> per occupant).

In future revisions to Standard 55 on occupant thermal comfort in buildings, ASHRAE could consider criteria more specific to children and schools.

Future case studies and surveys of school facilities should assess average occupant exposure to noise from present sources during school hours and, as resources allow, contract an acoustics specialist to determine spectral characteristics (e.g., frequency range) of potential sources and to ensure proper reverberation times.

As time and financial resources permit, noise reduction coefficients of interior finish materials should be considered, especially for large surface areas (e.g., ceiling tiles). Reverberation time may also decrease.

Do not build new schools near freeways due to health concerns from air pollution and noise.

For persistent organic pollutants like PCBs and phthalates, as well as radon, asbestos, arsenic, lead and mercury, encourage primary prevention of exposure in classrooms through source control and proper removal and disposal.

Promote strong, monitored programs for pollution prevention in environmentally preferable purchasing of school construction and interior finish materials, and classroom teaching, maintenance, and cleaning supplies. Policies are needed at federal and state levels to drive change in local school districts.

Neither buses nor trucks powered by diesel fuel should be allowed to remain idling near school facility outdoor air intake vents (assuming dampers open). Such a policy would reduce indoor concentrations of carbon monoxide, particles, and other vehicle-related combustion pollutants such as polycyclic aromatic hydrocarbons and nitrogen oxides.

Glare from incident sunlight on to or reflecting off surfaces (e.g., desks, computer screens) should be reduced to the extent practical. This includes not placing student desks directly in front of windows.

When indirect natural light through windows or skylights is sufficient, fluorescent lights can be turned off, which also saves energy and money.

#### Conclusion

This manuscript provided a concise school indoor air and environmental quality (IEQ) literature review followed by practical recommendations to prevent or reduce potential occupant exposures to biological, chemical, and physical agents of potential concern in American school facilities, in particular classrooms. These recommendations were based on about 300 scientific citations directly involving or highly related to school IEQ. This manuscript can inform various school stakeholders and policy makers at federal and state levels to drive change in local school districts. The goal is to improve and promote good school IEQ, occupant attendance and health, and academic achievement. Timelines and costs of implementation will inherently vary, but most of the proposed recommendations are initially low-cost or can result in long-term savings.

## Acknowledgements

We gratefully acknowledge the timely efforts of several individuals, which included members of the Healthy Schools Network Boards of Directors and Advisors, for internal review of this manuscript. They were Leyla McCurdy (National Environmental Education and Training Foundation), Joy Carlson (children's environmental health consultant), Dr. David Mudarri (U.S. EPA), and Dr. Ruth Etzel. The first author also thanks Dr. Jed Waldman (CDHS-EHLB, IAQ Section) for his thoughts during preparation of this manuscript's draft.

This project received funding from the Rockefeller Foundation, the National Institutes of Environmental Health Sciences, and the National Clearinghouse for Education Facilities, U.S. Department of Education.

#### REFERENCES

- 1. Acoustical Society of America (ASA). 2002. Acoustical Performance Criteria Design Requirements, and Guidelines for Schools. ANSI S12.60-2002
- 2. Åhman, M, Lundin, A, Musabasic, V, Soderman, E. 2000. Improved Health After Intervention in a School with Moisture Problems. *Indoor Air*, 10: 57-62.
- 3. Allermann, L, Meyer, HW, Poulsen, OM, Gyntelberg, F. 2003. Inflammatory Potential of Dust from Schools Associated with Building Related Symptoms. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 438-43.
- 4. Almqvist, C, Larsson, P, Egmar, AC, Hedren, M, Malmberg, P, Wickman, M. 1999. School as a risk environment for children allergic to cats and a site for transfer of cat allergen to homes. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 103 (6): 1012-7.
- 5. Almqvist, C, Wickman, M, Perfetti, L, et al. 2001. Worsening of asthma in children allergic to cats, after indirect exposure to cat at school. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 163: 694-97.
- 6. American Industrial Hygiene Association (AIHA). 1996. Field Guide for the Determination of Biological Contaminants in Environmental Samples. Fairfax, VA: AIHA.
- 7. American Lung Association and National Association of School Nurses (ALA-NASN). 2003. Report on the Results of The Asthma Awareness Survey. September 2, 2003.
- 8. American Public Health Association. 2001. Policy statement no. 200010: Creating Healthier School Facilities. *American Journal of Public Health*, 91 (3): 19-20.
- 9. American Society of Civil Engineers (ASCE). 2003. Report Card for America's Infrastructure, 2003 Progress Report. Available on Internet, <a href="http://www.asce.org/reportcard">http://www.asce.org/reportcard</a>.
- 10. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE). 1989. "Chapter 7: Sound and Vibration Fundamentals." *ASHRAE Fundamentals*. Atlanta, GA.
- 11. American Society of Heating, Refrigerating, and Air Conditioning Engineers (ASHRAE). 1999. ANSI/ASHRAE 62-1999, *Ventilation for acceptable indoor air quality*. Atlanta, GA, ASHRAE, Inc.
- 12. ASHRAE. 1992. ANSI/ASHRAE 55-1992, *Thermal environmental conditions for human occupancy*. Atlanta, GA, ASHRAE, Inc.
- 13. Anderson, RC and Anderson, JH. 1999. Irritant Air from Six Schools in New England. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 4, Edinburgh, Scotland, 513-18.
- 14. Anderson, RC and Anderson, JH. 2003. Acute toxicity of marking pen emissions. *Journal of Toxicology and Environmental Health*, 66 (9): 829-45.
- 15. Andersson, K, Stridh, G, Fagerlund, I, Aslaksen, W, Rudblad, S. 2002. Comparison of the Perceived Indoor Climate and Symptoms Reported by Students and Personnel in 16 Senior High Schools in Sweden. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 399-403.
- 16. Angell, WJ and Daisey, J. 1997. Building Factors Associated with School Indoor Air Quality Problems: A Perspective. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol. 1, Bethesda, MD, 143 (abstract).
- 17. Apte MG, Hodgson AT, Shendell DG, Fisk WJ, Delp WW, Diamond RC, Lee S-M, Rainer LI, Sullivan DP. 2002. Energy and Indoor Environmental Quality in Relocatable Classrooms in Northern California. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 62-67.

- 18. Apte MG, Dibartolomeo D, Hotchi T, Hodgson AT, Lee SM, Liff SM, Rainer LI, Shendell DG, Sullivan DP, Fisk WJ. 2003. Simultaneous Energy Savings and IEQ Improvements in Relocatable Classrooms. *ASHRAE IAQ Applications*, Fall 2003, 4 (4): 7-10. LBNL-52690.
- 19. Bahadori, RS and Bohne, BA. 1993. Adverse effects of noise on hearing. *American Family Physician*, 47 (5): 1219-29.
- 20. Bakke, JV and Levy, F. (1990). Indoor Air Quality and Climate in Kindergartens—Relation to Health Effects. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol.1, Toronto, Canada, 3-8.
- 21. Bakke, JV. 1999. State-of-the-Art Report on Requirements and Recommendations for Indoor Climate in Schools: A Report to the Norwegian Asthma and Allergy Association and the Norwegian Teachers Association. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Edinburgh, Scotland, 516-21.
- 22. Barry, BE, Lockhart, TM, Jessup, DS. 2003. Impact of ventilation design on fungal proliferation in a school HVAC system. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Bioaerosols, Fungi, Bacteria, Mycotoxins, and Human Health*, Abstracts, Saratoga Springs, NY, 114 (K3).
- 23. Bates, JM and Mahaffy, DJ. 1996. Relationship of reported allergy symptoms, relative humidity and airborne biologicals in thirteen Florida classrooms. In: *Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Nagoya, Japan, 551-6.
- 24. Batterman, SA, Jia, C, Godwin, C, Franzblau, A, Ellendula, S. 2003a. VOC Exposures among Teachers and Students in Schools and at Home. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 405.
- 25. Batterman, SA, Godwin, C, Franzblau, A, Jia, C, Ellendula, S, Corsi, R, Torres, V, Sanders, M. 2003b. IAQ and Ventilation in Michigan and Texas Schools. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 406.
- 26. Behrentz, E, Sabin, LD, Lee, SJ, Winer, AM, Colome, S, Fitz, DR, Pankratz, D, Fruin, S. 2003. Relative Importance of School Bus Commute-Related Microenvironments to Children's Exposure to Vehicle Related Air Pollutants. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 286.
- 27. Berge, M, Munir, AK, Dreborg, S. 1998. Concentrations of cat (Fel d 1), dog (Can f 1), and mite (Der f 1 and Der p 1) allergens in the clothing and school environment of Swedish schoolchildren with and without pets at home. *Pediatric Allergy and Immunology*, 9 (1): 25-30.
- 28. Blake, P and Busby, S.1994. Noise levels in New Zealand junior classrooms: their impact on hearing and teaching. *New Zealand Medical Journal*, 107(985): 357-358.
- 29. Bond, M. 1996. Plagued by noise. Harmful effects of noise. *New Scientist*, 152 (2056, Nov. 16): 14-15.
- 30. Booker, SM. 2001. Noise Pollution: EC Says Shhh! *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 109 (5): A204.
- 31. Boone, K, Ellringer, PJ, Sawyer, JE, Streifel, A. 1997. Can good indoor air quality improve the performance of elementary students? In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol. 1, Bethesda, MD, 75 (abstract).
- 32. Braganza, EF and Harrison, J. 2000. Baseline measurements of indoor air quality and comfort parameters in eight United States elementary and secondary schools. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 1, Espoo, Finland, 193-98.

- 33. California Air Resources Board (CARB). 1991. *Indoor Air Quality Guideline No.1:* Formaldehyde in the Home. September, 1991. Accessed on Internet, <a href="http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/formald.htm">http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/formald.htm</a>
- 34. CARB. 1993. Acetaldehyde as a Toxic Air Contaminant: Executive Summary. CARB, Stationary Source Division, Sacramento, CA, November 1993.
- 35. CARB. 2001. *Indoor Air Quality Guideline No. 3: Chlorinated Chemicals in Your Home.* May 2001. Accessed on Internet, <a href="http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/clguide.pdf">http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/clguide.pdf</a>
- 36. CARB. 2003a. Children's School Bus Exposure Study. Accessed on Internet October 17, 2003 (last updated October 16, 2003), <a href="http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/schoolbus/schoolbus.htm">http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/schoolbus/schoolbus.htm</a>
- 37. CARB. 2003b. School Bus Idling Airborne Toxic Control Measure. Accessed on Internet November 3, 2003 (last updated October 24, 2003), <a href="http://www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/sbidling/sbidling.htm">http://www.arb.ca.gov/toxics/sbidling/sbidling.htm</a>
- 38. CARB. 2003c. California Portable Classroom Study. Accessed on Internet (last updated October 28, 2003), <a href="http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/pcs/pcs.htm">http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/indoor/pcs/pcs.htm</a>
- 39. California Energy Commission (CEC). 1995. Air Change Rates in Non-residential Buildings in California. Prepared by Lagus Applied Technologies, Sacramento, CA.
- 40. Calilfornia Department of Education (CDE). 1986. School Sound Level Study. Sacramento, CA: School Facilities and Transportation Division, CDE. <a href="ftp://ftp.cde.ca.gov/SchoolFacilities/info/SSLSTUDY.pdf">ftp://ftp.cde.ca.gov/SchoolFacilities/info/SSLSTUDY.pdf</a>
- 41. California Department of Health Services (CDHS), Childhood Lead Poisoning Prevention Branch. 1998. Report to the Legislature: Lead Hazards in California's Public Elementary Schools and Child Care Facilities (Executive Summary). Available on Internet, <a href="http://www.dhs.cahwnet.gov/childlead/schools/execsum.htm">http://www.dhs.cahwnet.gov/childlead/schools/execsum.htm</a>
- 42. Carrer, P, Bruinen de Bruin, Y, Franchi, M, Valovirta, E. 2002. The EFA project: indoor air quality in European schools. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 794-99.
- 43. Cavallo, D, Alcini, D, De Bortoli, M, Carrettoni, D, Carrer, P, Bersani, M, Maroni, M. 1993. Chemical contamination of indoor air in schools and office buildings in Milan, Italy. In. *Proceedings of the 6<sup>th</sup> International Conference of Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol.2, Helsinki, Finland, 45-50.
- 44. Chen, L, Jennison, BL, Yang, W, Omaye, ST. 2000. Elementary School Absenteeism and Air Pollution. *Inhalation Toxicology*, 12: 997-1016.
- 45. Chmelynski, HJ and Leovic, KW. 1992. Characteristics of School Buildings in the U.S. Presented at the 1992 International Symposium on Radon and Radon Reduction Technology, Minneapolis, MN.
- 46. Churchill, RK and Youngs, LG. 1993. The (CA) Department of Health Services Elementary School Radon Survey: Relationships Between Geology, Soils and Indoor Radon: Final Report. California Department of Conservation.
- 47. Claeson, A-S, Levin, J-O, Blomquist, G, Sunesson, A-L. 2003. Volatile Metabolites from Microorganisms Grown on Building Materials. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Monterey, CA, 437-442.
- 48. Clark, WW. 1991. Noise exposure from leisure activities: a review. *Journal of the Acoustic Society of America*, 90: 175-181.
- 49. Clark, WW and Bohne, BA. 1999. Effects of Noise on Hearing. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 281 (17, May 5): 1658.
- 50. Cohen, S and Weinstein, N. 1981. Non-auditory effects of noise on behavior and health. *Journal of Social Issues*, 37: 36-70.

- 51. Cohen Hubal, EA, Sheldon, LS, Burke, JM, McCurdy, TR, Berry MR, Rigas, ML, Zartarian, VG, Freeman, NC. 2000. Children's exposure assessment: a review of factors influencing children's exposure, and the data available to characterize and assess that exposure. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108 (6): 475-88.
- 52. Corsi, RL, Torres, VM, Sanders, M, Kinney, KA. 2002. Carbon dioxide levels and dynamics in elementary schools: results of the TESIAS study. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 74-79.
- 53. Cotton, MM and Evans, KM. 1990. An evaluation of Irlen lenses as a treatment for specific reading disorders. *The Australian Journal of Psychology*, 42: 1-12.
- 54. Daisey, J and Angell, WJ. 1998. A Survey and Critical Review of the Literature on Indoor Air Quality, Ventilation, and Health Symptoms in Schools. Berkeley, CA: E.O. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Environmental Energy Technologies Division, Indoor Environment Department, March 1998. LBNL-41517
- 55. Daisey, JM, Angell, WJ, Apte, MG. 2003. Indoor Air Quality, Ventilation and Health Symptoms in Schools: An Analysis of Existing Information. *Indoor Air*, 13 (1): 53-64. LBNL-48287.
- 56. DeJoy, DM. 1984. A report on the status of research on the cardiovascular effects of noise. *Noise Control Engineering Journal*, 23 (1): 32-39.
- 57. Dotterud, LK, Van, TD, Kammen, B, Dybendal, T, Elsayed, S, Falk, ES. 1997. Allergen content in dust from homes and schools in northern Norway in relation to sensitization and allergy symptoms in schoolchildren. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 27 (3): 252-61.
- 58. Douwes, J, Van Strien, R, Doekes, G, Smit, J, Kerkhof, M, Gerritsen, J, Aalberse, R, Neijens, H, de Jongste, J, Brunekreef, B. 2003. Early Indoor Microbial Exposure Lowers the Risk of Asthma: The Piama Birth Cohort Study. 15<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology, Perth, Western Australia. Abstract in *Epidemiology*, 14 (5): S46.
- 59. Duncan, RC, Easterly, CE, Griffith, J, and Aldrich, TE. 1993. The effect of chronic environmental noise on the rate of hypertension: a meta-analysis. *Environment International*, 19: 359-369.
- 60. Dybendal, T, Vik, H, Elsayed, S. 1989. Dust from carpeted and smooth floors. II. Antigenic and allergenic content of dust vacuumed from carpeted and smooth floors in schools under routine cleaning schedules. *Allergy*, 44 (6): 401-11.
- 61. Dybendal, T, Elsayed, S. 1992. Dust from carpeted and smooth floors. V. Cat (Fel d 1) and mite (Der p 1 and Der f 1) allergen levels in school dust. Demonstration of the basophil histamine release induced by dust from classrooms. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 22 (12): 1100-06.
- 62. Ekberg, LE, Kvernes, M, Gustén, J, Strindehag, O. 2000. Removal of Pollen Allergens by Ventilation Air Filters. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 2, Espoo, Finland, 67-72
- 63. Elfman, L, Schoeps, K-O, Wessén, B, Gambe, A, Nybom, R. 2000. The measurement of indoor environmental parameters in a newly started and refurbished school. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 1, Espoo, Finland, 341-46.
- 64. Evans, GW, Bullinger, M, Hygge, S. 1998. Chronic noise exposure and physiological response: A prospective study of children living under environmental stress. *Psychological Science*, 9 (1): 75-77.

- 65. Evans, GW, Lercher, P, Meis, M, Ising, H, Kofler, WW. 2001. Community noise exposure and stress in children. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 109 (3): 1023-27.
- 66. Fan, Z, Han, I-K, Weschler, C, Zhang, C, Zhang, J. 2003. Hydrogen Peroxides and Ultrafine Particles Resulting from Indoor Reactions of O<sub>3</sub> with Mixtures of Volatile Organic Compounds. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 312.
- 67. Ferris, GR, Bergin, TG, and Wayne, SJ. 1988. Personal Characteristics, Job Performance, and Absenteeism of Public School Teachers. *Journal of Applied Social Psychology*, 18 (7): 552-63.
- 68. Fielder, N, Zhang, J, Fan, Z, Kelly-McNeil, K, Lioy, P, Gardner, C, Ohman-Strickland, P, Kipen, H. 2002. Health effects of a volatile organic compound mixture with and without ozone. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 596-601.
- 69. Fischer, AB, Eikmann, T. 1996. Improper use of an insecticide at a kindergarten. *Toxicology Letters*, 88 (1-3): 359-64.
- 70. Fitz, DR, Winer, AM, Colome, SD, Behrentz, E, Sabin, LD, Lee, SJ, Wong, K, Kozawa, K, Pankratz, D, Bumiller, K, Gemmill, D, Smith, M. 2003. Characterizing the Range of Children's Pollutant Exposure During School Bus Commutes. Sacramento, CA: CARB, October 10, 2003, available at http://www.arb.ca.gov/research/schoolbus/schoolbus.htm
- 71. Fox, A, Harley, W, Feigley, C, Salzberg, D, Sebastian, A, Larsson, L. 2003. Increased levels of bacterial markers and CO<sub>2</sub> in occupied school rooms. *Journal of Environmental Monitoring*, 5 (2): 246-52.
- Gabrio, T, Piechotowski, I, Wallenhorst, T, Klett, M, Cott, L, Friebel, P, Link, B, Schwenk, M. 2000. PCB-blood levels in teachers, working in PCB-contaminated schools. *Chemosphere*, 40 (9-11): 1055-62.
- 73. Garrett, MH, Hooper, MA, Hooper, BM, Rayment, PR, and Abramson, MJ. 1999. Increased risk of allergy in children due to formaldehyde exposure in homes. *Allergy*, 54 (4): 330-37.
- 74. Gilliland, FD, Berhane, K, Rappaport, EB, Thomas, DC, Avol, E, Gauderman, WJ, London, SJ, Margolis, HG, McConnell, R, Islam, KT, Peters, JM. 2001. The Effects of Ambient Air Pollution on School Absenteeism Due to Respiratory Illness. *Epidemiology*, 12 (1): 43-54.
- 75. Gilliland, FD, Berhane, K, Islam, T, Wenten, M, Rappaport, E, Avol, E, Gauderman, WJ, McConnell, R, Peters, JM. 2003. Environmental Tobacco Smoke and Absenteeism Related to Respiratory Illness in Schoolchildren. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 157 (10): 861-69.
- 76. Golub, MS. 2000. Adolescent Health and the Environment. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108 (4): 355-62.
- 77. Green, GH. 1974. The Effect of Indoor Relative Humidity on Absenteeism and Colds in Schools. *ASHRAE Transactions*, 80 (II): 131-41.
- 78. Green, GH. 1985. Indoor Relative Humidities in Winter and the Related Absenteeism. *ASHRAE Transactions*, 91 (1B): 643-53.
- 79. Gunn, WJ, Shigehisa, T, Fletcher, JL, Shepard, WT. 1981. Annoyance response to aircraft noise as a function of contextual effects and personality characteristics. *Journal of Auditory Research*, 21 (1): 51-83.
- 80. Gunnarsen, L. 2000. Replacing mechanical ventilation with natural ventilation and increased user control-an intervention study in a school. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 2, Espoo, Finland, 297.

- 81. Haines, MM, Stansfeld, SA, Brentnall, S, Head, J, Berry, B, Jiggins, M, Hygge, S. 2001a. The West London schools study: The effects of chronic aircraft noise exposure on child health. *Psychological Medicine*, 31 (8): 1385-96.
- 82. Haines, MM, Stansfeld, SA, Job, RF, Berglund, B, Head, J. 2001b. A follow-up study of effects of chronic aircraft noise exposure on child stress responses and cognition. *International Journal of Epidemiology*, 30 (4): 839-45.
- 83. Haines, MM, Stansfeld, SA, Job, RF, Berglund, B, Head, J. 2001c. Chronic aircraft noise exposure, stress responses, mental health and cognitive performance in school children. *Psychological Medicine*, 31 (2): 265-77.
- 84. Haines, MM. 2002a. The West London schools study: The effects of chronic aircraft noise exposure on child health. *Journal of the American Medical Association*, 287 (5): 562.
- 85. Haines, MM, Stansfeld, SA, Head, J, Job, RF. 2002b. Multilevel modeling of aircraft noise on performance tests in schools around Heathrow Airport London. *Journal of Epidemiology and Community Health*, 56 (2): 139-44.
- 86. Haines, M, Stansfeld, SS, Berglund, B, Lopez-Barrio I, Fischer, PF, Van Kamp, I, Öhrström, E, Berry, B. 2003. Aircraft and Road Traffic Noise and Children's Cognition and Health: Preliminary Results on the Dose-Response Relationships from the RANCH Study. 15<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology, Perth, Western Australia. Abstract in *Epidemiology*, 14 (5): S128.
- 87. Hansen, LBE., Ibsen, K, and Osterballe, K. 1987. Carpeting in schools as an indoor pollutant. In: *Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Conference of Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Berlin, West Germany, 727-31.
- 88. Hathaway, WE. 1995. Effects of school lighting on physical development and school performance. *The Journal of Educational Research*, 88: 228-42.
- 89. Haverinen, U, Husman, T, Toivola, M, Suonketo, J, Pentti, M, Lindberg, R, Leinonen, J, Hyvarinen, A, Meklin, T, Nevalainen, A. 1999a. An approach to management of critical indoor air problems in school buildings. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 107 (Suppl 3): 509-14.
- 90. Haverinen, U, Husman, T, Wahlman, J, et al. 1999b. A Follow-up of the repairs and health effects in a moisture damaged school center. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol.4, Edinburgh, Scotland, 191-97.
- 91. Haverinen, U, Pekkanen, J, Nevalainen, A, Husman, T. 2002. Evaluating Effects of Moisture Damage Repairs on Students' Health Using Questionnaires. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 425-30.
- 92. Heath, GA and Mendell, MJ. Do Indoor Environments in Schools Influence Student Performance? A Review of the Literature. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference of Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Monterey, CA, 802-07.
- 93. Heindel, J. 2000. Learning Disabilities Association-Sponsored symposium on chemical hormone impostors and child development. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108 (8): 785-786.
- 94. Herbarth, O, Fritz, G, Lehmann, I. 2003. Influence of Indoor Chemical Exposure in Early Childhood on Allergic Symptoms and Disorders. 15<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology, Perth, Western Australia. Abstract in *Epidemiology*, 14 (5): S53.

- 95. Heschong Mahone Group. 1999. Daylighting in Schools: An Investigation into Relationship Between Daylighting and Human Performance.
- 96. Hodgson, AT, Wooley, JD, Daisey, JM. 1993. Emissions of volatile organic compounds from new carpets measured in a large-scale environmental chamber. *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, 43 (3): 316-324.
- 97. Hodgson, AT. 1999. Common Indoor Sources of Volatile Organic Compounds: Emission Rates and Techniques for Reducing Consumer Exposures, Final Report. Sacramento, CA: California Air Resources Board, Contract Number 95-302.
- 98. Hodgson, AT, Rudd, AF, Beal, D, Chandra, S. 2000. Volatile Organic Compound Concentrations and Emission Rates in New Manufactured and Site-Built Houses. *Indoor Air*, 10(3): 178-192.
- 99. Hodgson AT, Fisk, WJ, Shendell DG, Apte MG. 2001. Predicted Concentrations in New Relocatable Classrooms of Volatile Organic Compounds Emitted from Standard and Alternate Interior Finish Materials. Berkeley, CA: E.O. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, Environmental Energy Technologies Division, Indoor Environment Department, July 2001. LBNL-48490.
- 100. Hodgson AT, Apte MG, Shendell DG, Beal, D, McIlvaine, JER. 2002. "Implementation of VOC Source Reduction Practices in a Manufactured House and in School Classrooms."
   In: Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 576-81.
- 101. Hodgson AT, Shendell DG, Fisk WJ, Apte MG. 2003. Comparison of Predicted and Derived Measures of Volatile Organic Compounds inside Four Relocatable Classrooms due to Identified Interior Finish Sources. Berkeley, CA: E.O. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, June 2003. LBNL-52520. (Also, *Indoor Air*, submitted for special issue.)
- 102. Hunter, I. 1990. Addressing discomfort and dissatisfaction in a windowless school. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Toronto, Canada, 745-50.
- 103. Hwang, J-S, Chen, Y-J, Wang, J-D, Lai, Y-M, Yang, C-Y, Chan, C-C. (2000). Subject-Domain Approach to the Study of Air Pollution Effects on Schoolchildren's Illness Absence. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 152 (1): 67-74.
- 104. Immonen, J, Meklin, T, Taskinen, T, Nevalainen, A, Korppi, M. 2001. Skin-prick test findings in students from moisture- and mould-damaged schools: a 3-year follow-up study. *Pediatric Allergy Immunology*, 12 (2): 87-94.
- 105. Institute of Medicine (IOM). 1993. Indoor Allergens. Washington, D.C.: IOM.
- 106. Ising, H, Dienel, D, Gunther, T, Markert, B. 1980. Health effects of traffic noise. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 47 (2): 179-90.
- 107. Ising, H, Rebentisch, E, Poustka, F, Curio, I. 1990. Annoyance and health risk caused by military low-altitude flight noise. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 62 (5): 357-63.
- 108. Jaakkola, JJK, Oie, L, Nafstad, P, Botten, G, Samuelsen, SO, Magnus, P. 1999. Interior Surface Materials in the Home and the Development of Bronchial Obstruction in Young Children in Oslo, Norway. *American Journal of Public Health*, 89 (2): 188-192.
- 109. Jaakkola, JJK, Verkasalo, PK, Jaakkola, N. 2000. Plastic Wall Materials in the Home and Respiratory Health in Young Children. *American Journal of Public Health*, 90(5): 797-799.

- 110. Jalas, J, Karjalainen, K, Kimari, P. 2000. Indoor air and energy economy in school buildings. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings 2000*, Vol. 4, Espoo, Finland, 273.
- 111. Jeanes, R, Busby, A, Martin, J, Lewis, E, Stevenson, N, Pointon, D, Wilkins, A. 1997. Prolonged use of colored overlays for classrooms reading. *Journal of Psychology*, 88: 531-48.
- 112. Jones, SE, Brenner, ND, McManus, T. 2003. Prevalence of School Policies, Programs, and Facilities that Promote a Healthy Physical School Environment. *American Journal of Public Health*, 93 (9): 1570-75.
- 113. Jovanovic, S, Link, B, Schwenk, M. 2003. Pilot Study: Traffic Noise Exposure and Stress in Children. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 275.
- 114. Kalliokoski, P, Lignell, U, Meklin, T, et al. 2000. Fungal growth and indoor air quality and climate in school kitchens. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 1, Espoo, Finland, 365-69.
- 115. Kalliokoski, P, Lignell, U, Meklin, T, Koivisto, J, Nevalainen, A. 2002. Comparison of Airborne Microbial Levels in School Kitchen Facilities and other School Areas. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 444-48.
- 116. Kelly, TJ, Smith, DL, Satola, J. 1999. Emission Rates of Formaldehyde from Materials and Consumer Products Found in California Homes. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 33 (1): 81-88.
- 117. Kim, CS, Lim, YW, Yang, JY, Hong, CS, Shin, DC. 2002. Effect of Indoor CO<sub>2</sub> Concentrations on Wheezing Attacks in Children. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 492-97.
- 118. Kinshella, MR, Van Dyke, MV, Douglas, KE, Martyny, JW. 2001. Perceptions of indoor air quality associated with ventilation system types in elementary schools. *Applied Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, 16 (10): 952-60.
- 119. Klenø, JG and Wolkoff, P. 2002. Eye irritation from exposure to ppb levels of limonene oxidation products. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 602-07.
- 120. Knecht, H, et al. 2002. Structural variables and their relationships to background noise levels and reverberation times in unoccupied classrooms. *American Journal of Audiology*, 11: 3.
- 121. Koch, HM, Drexler, H, Angerer, J. 2003. Secondary Di(2-ethyl)hexylphthalate (DEHP) Metabolites in the Urine of Kindergarten Children and Adults. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 86.
- 122. Koivisto, J, Haverinen, U, Meklin, T, Nevalainen, A. 2002. Occurrence and characteristics of moisture damage in school buildings. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 473-76.
- 123. Koskinen, O, Husman, T, Hyvärinen, A, et al. 1995. Respiratory Symptoms and Infections among Children in a Day-Care Center with Mold Problems. *Indoor Air*, 5, 3-9.
- 124. Kumar, R. 1999. Indoor Air Quality Solutions for School Buildings. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Edinburgh, Scotland, 590-95.

- 125. Kurnitski, J and Enberg, S. 1997. Indoor climate and moisture problems in Finnish schools. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol.1, Bethesda, MD, 111-116.
- 126. Kvernes, M, Gustén, J, Dahl, Å, et al. 1999. Pollen allergen concentrations in a preschool. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Edinburgh, Scotland, 279-84.
- 127. Kwok, AG. 1997. Thermal Comfort in Naturally-Ventilated and Air-Conditioned Classrooms in the Tropics. University of California, Berkeley. Ph.D. Thesis.
- 128. Kwok, AG. 1998. Thermal Comfort in Tropical Schools. *ASHRAE Transactions*, 104, part one.
- 129. (editorial). 1991. Noise and hearing loss. *Lancet*, 338 (8758, July 6): 21-22.
- 130. Landrus, GZM., Rosenweig-Witherspoon, J, Hunter, I. 1987. Effects on perceived and measured air quality, health, absenteeism, and energy consumption of installing openable windows in a "sealed" school. In: *Proceedings of the 4<sup>th</sup> International Conference of Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Berlin, West Germany, 252-55.
- 131. Lappalainen, S, Kähkönen, E, Loikkanen, P, et al. 2001. Evaluation of priorities for repairing in moisture-damaged school buildings in Finland. *Building and Environment*, 36: 981-86.
- 132. Lee, CW, Chien, YC, Hung, CH. 2003. Volatile Organic Compounds Emissions from Office Equipments, Building Materials, and Incense Burning. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 306.
- 133. Lee, SC and Chang, M. 1999. Indoor air quality investigations at five classrooms. *Indoor Air*, 9 (2): 134-38.
- 134. Lee, SC and Chang, M. 2000. Indoor and outdoor air quality investigation at schools in Hong Kong. *Chemosphere*, 41 (1-2): 109-13.
- 135. Lehmkuhle, S, Garzia, RP, Turner, L, Hash, T, Baro, JB. 1993. A defective visual pathway in children with reading disability. *The New England Journal of Medicine*, 328 (14): 989-95.
- 136. Leovic, KW and Craig, AB. 1994. Radon Prevention in the Design and Construction of Schools and Other Large Buildings. EPA/625/R-92/016.
- 137.Lercher, P, Stansfeld, SA, and Thompson, SJ. 1998. Non-auditory health effects of noise: review of the 1993-1998 period. *In Proceedings of Noise as a Public Health Problem, Vol. 1* (Carter, NL, Job RFS, eds.). Sydney, Australia: University of Sydney, 1998: 213-220.
- 138.Lercher, P, Evans, GW, Meis, M, Kofler, WW. 2002. Ambient neighborhood noise and children's mental health. *Occupational and Environmental Medicine*, 59 (6): 380-86.
- 139. Lewis, CW. 1991. Sources of air pollutants indoors: VOC and fine particulate species. *Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology*, 1(1): 31-44.
- 140. Li, C-S, Hsu, C-W, Lu, C-H. 1997a. Dampness and respiratory symptoms among workers in daycare centers in a subtropical climate. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 52 (1): 68-71.
- 141. Li, C-S, Hsu, C-W, Tai, M-L. 1997b. Indoor pollution and sick building syndrome symptoms among workers in day-care centers. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 52 (3): 200-07.
- 142. Lignell, U, Husman, T, Meklin, T, et al. 2000. Moisture in school kitchens and symptoms of the kitchen personnel. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings 2000*, Vol. 1, Espoo, Finland, 299-304.

- 143. Liu, LJS, Krahmer, M, Fox, A, Feigley, CE, Featherstone, A, Saraf, A, Larsson, L. 2000. Investigation of the concentration of bacteria and their cell envelope components in indoor air in two elementary schools. *Journal of the Air and Waste Management Association*, 50 (11): 1957-67.
- 144. Longnecker, MP, Bellinger, DC, Crews, D, Eskenazi, B, Silbergeld, EK, Woodruff, TJ, and Susser, ES. 2003. An Approach to Assessment of Endocrine Disruption in the National Children's Study. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 111 (13): 1691-97.
- 145. Lundin, L. 1999. Allergic and non-allergic students' perception of the same high school environment. *Indoor Air*, 9 (2): 92-102.
- 146. Makino, K. 2000. Association of School Absence with Air Pollution in Areas around Arterial Roads. *Journal of Epidemiology*, 10: 292-99.
- 147. Manlove, EE, Frank, T, Vernon-Feagans, L. 2001. Why should we care about noise in classrooms and child care settings? *Child and Youth Care Forum*, 30 (1): 55-64.
- 148.Mannino, DM, Homa, DM, Akinbami, LJ, Moorman, JE, Gwynn, C, Redd, SC. Surveillance for Asthma—United States, 1980-1999. *Morbidity and Mortality Weekly Reports*, 50 (SS01), March 29, 2002, 1-13.
- 149. Martin, SH. 2002. The Classroom Environment and its Effects on the Practice of Teachers. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 22: 139-56.
- 150. Martins, AO, Silva, GVA, Vasconcelos, MT. 2003. Effects of Building Renovation or Cleaning on Indoor Air Quality: The Air We Breathe. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 261.
- 151. Matson, U, Kvernes, M, Ekberg, LE. 2003. Pollen Allergen Concentrations in a Preschool Building and a Day-care Centre. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 467-72.
- 152.Maxwell, LE and Evans, GW. 2000. The effects of noise on pre-school children's pre-reading skills. *Journal of Environmental Psychology*, 20: 91-97.
- 153.McLean, EK and Tarnopolsky, A. 1977. Noise, discomfort, and mental health. A review of the socio-medical implications of disturbance by noise. *Psychological Medicine*, 7 (1): 19-62.
- 154.Meklin, T, Husman, T, Vepsäläinen, A, et al. 2000. Moisture damage in schools—symptoms and indoor air microbes. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 1, Espoo, Finland, 335-40.
- 155.Meklin, T, Husman, T, Pekkanen, J, Hyvärinen, A, Hirvonen, M-R, Nevalainen, A. 2002a. Effects of Moisture Damage Repair on Microbial Exposure and Health Effects in Schools. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 416-20.
- 156.Meklin, T, Husman, T, Vepsäläinen, A, Vahteristo, M, Koivisto, J, Halla Aho, J, Hyvarinen, A, Moschandreas, D, Nevalainen, A. 2002b. Indoor air microbes and respiratory symptoms of children in moisture damaged and reference schools. *Indoor Air*, 12 (3): 175-83.
- 157.Menaker, SJ, Breton, MD, Breton, ML, Radcliffe, J, Gole, GA. 1993. Do tinted lenses improve the reading performance of dyslexic children? *Archives of Ophthalmology*, 111: 213-18.
- 158.Meyer, HWAL, Allermann, L, Nielsen, JB, Hansen, MØ, Gravesen, S, Nielsen, PA, Skov, P, Gyntelberg, F. 1999. Building conditions and building-related symptoms in the Copenhagen school study. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Edinburgh, Scotland, 298-99.

- 159.Mi, Y-H, Elfman, L, Eriksson, S, Johansson, M, Smedje, G, Tao, J, Mi, Y-L, Norbäck, D. 2002. Indoor Allergens in Schools: A Comparison between Sweden and China. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 449-54.
- 160.Morey, P, Andrew, M, Ligman, B, Jarvis, J. 2003. Hidden Mold Sometimes Enters the Indoor Air. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 455-460.
- 161.Morgan, MK, Sheldon, LS, Croghan, CW, Jones, PA, Fortmann, RC, Wilson, NK, Lyu, C, Chuang, JC, Brinkman, MC, Robertson, GL. 2003. Levels of Chlorpyrifos and its Degradation Product 3,5,6-trichloro-2-pyridinol in the Homes, Day Care Centers, and Urine of 130 North Carolina Pre-school Children. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 74.
- 162.Munir, AKM, Einarsson, R, Schou, C, et al. 1993. Allergens in school dust. The amount of major cat (Fel d 1) and dog (Can f 1) allergens in dust from Swedish schools is high enough to probably case perennial symptoms in most children with asthma who are sensitized to cat and dog. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 91: 1067-74.
- 163.Myhrvold, AN, Olsen, E, Luridsen, Ø. 1996. Indoor Environment in Schools—Pupils Health and Performance in Regard to CO<sub>2</sub> Concentrations. In: *Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 4, Nagoya, Japan, 369-74.
- 164.Myhrvold, AN and Olsen, E. 1997. Pupil's Health and Performance Due to Renovation of Schools. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol.1, Bethesda, MD, 81-86.
- 165. Naylor, C. 1997. Teacher Safety in Portable Classrooms. British Columbia Teacher's Federation Research Department (BCTFRD), http://www.bctf.bc.ca/ResearchReports/97wlc01/
- 166. Nelson, PB. 2003. Sound in the Classroom: Why Children Need Quiet. *ASHRAE Journal*, February 2003: 22-25.
- 167. Nielsen, JB and Kristiansen, J. 2003. Remediation of Lead-Contaminated Kindergartens Reduces the Amount of Lead Adhering to Children's Hands. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 49.
- 168. Nikolic, M. 2000. Indoor air quality in primary schools. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings 2000*, Vol.1, Espoo, Finland, 455-58.
- 169. Norbäck, D, Torgen, M, Edling, C. 1990. Volatile organic compounds, respirable dust and personal factors related to prevalence and incidence of sick building syndrome in primary schools. *British Journal of Industrial Medicine*, 47, 733-741.
- 170. Norbäck, D. 1995. Subjective indoor air quality in schools—the influence of high room temperature, carpeting, fleecy wall materials and volatile organic compounds (VOC). *Indoor Air*, 5 (4): 237-46.
- 171. Norbäck, D, Wålinder, R, Wieslander, G, et al. 2000. Indoor air pollutants in schools, nasal patency and biomarkers in nasal lavage. *Allergy*, 55: 163-70.
- 172. Norbäck, D, Mi, Y-H, Larsson, L, Wady, L, Tao, J, Mi, Y-L. 2002. Current Asthma, Respiratory Infections and Hypersensitivity to Moulds in Pupils in Shanghai, China, in Relation to Microbial Components in the Classrooms. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 410-15.
- 173. Office of Environmental Health Hazard Assessment (OEHHA), California Environmental Protection Agency. 2003. Accessed on Internet November 3, 2003 (last

- updated October 24, 2003), <a href="http://www.oehha.ca.gov/prop65/CRNR\_notices/list\_changes/6Ddehpnot.html">http://www.oehha.ca.gov/prop65/CRNR\_notices/list\_changes/6Ddehpnot.html</a>
- 174. O'Connor, PD, Sofo, F, Kendall, L, Olsen, G. 1990. Reading Disabilities and the Effects of Coloured Filters. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 23 (10): abstract.
- 175.Parcel, GS, Gilman, SC, Nader, PR, Bunce, H. 1979. A Comparison of Absentee Rates of Elementary Schoolchildren with Asthma and Non-asthmatic Schoolmates. *Pediatrics*, 64 (6): 878-81.
- 176. Parker, JD. 1992. HVAC Systems in the Current Stock of U.S. K-12 Schools. United States Environmental Protecton Agency (USEPA), Air and Energy Engineering Research Laboratory, Research Triangle Park, NC. December 1992. EPA/600/SR-92/125
- 177. Pasanen, T, Keskikuru, T, Ridell, J, Pasanen, P. 2002. Indoor air quality and the adequacy of cleaning in 25 Finnish schools. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 87-91.
- 178. Passchier-Vermeer, W and Passchier WF. 2000. *Environmental Health Perspectives* Suppl, 108 (Suppl 1): 123-132.
- 179. Patchett, K, Lewis, S, Crane, J, et al. 1997. Cat allergen (Fel d 1) levels on school children's clothing and in primary school classrooms in Wellington, New Zealand. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 100: 755-59.
- 180. Patovirta, R-L, Husman, T, Haverinen, U, Toivola, M, Reiman, M, Vahteristo, M, Uitti, J,, Tukiainen, H, Nevalainen, A. 2003. Effects of repair of school mold problems and teachers' health. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Bioaerosols, Fungi, Bacteria, Mycotoxins, and Human Health*, Abstracts, Saratoga Springs, NY, 35 (A1).
- 181. Pepler, RDW. 1968. Temperature and learning: An experimental study. *ASHRAE Transactions*, 74: 211-19.
- 182. Perzanowski, M, Rönnmark, E, Nold, B, et al. 1999a. Relevance of allergens from cats and dogs to asthma in the northernmost province of Sweden: Schools as a major site of exposure. *Scandinavian Journal of Worker Environment Health*, 25 (2): 137-43.
- 183.Perzanowski, M, Rönnmark, E, Nold, B, et al. 1999b. Relevance of allergens from cats and dogs to asthma in the northernmost province of Sweden: Schools as a major site of exposure. *Journal of Allergy and Clinical Immunology*, 103: 1018-24.
- 184.Pettinen, H, Reiman, M, Husman, T, Marttinen, K, Kokotti, H. 2000. Risk Assessment of Indoor Air Quality in a Nursery School. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings 2000*, Vol. 3, Espoo, Finland, 415.
- 185. Powers, M. 1993. Stressed out. The effects of environmental stressors. *Human Ecology Forum*, 21 (2): 7-9.
- 186. Prill, R, Blake, D, Hales, D. 2002. School indoor air quality assessment and program implementation. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 824-29.
- 187. Ramachandran, G, Adgate, JL, Church, TR, Jones, D, Fischer, G, Fredrickson, A, Sexton, K. 2002. Indoor air quality in two urban elementary schools: comfort parameters and microbial concentrations in air and carpets. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 461-66.
- 188. Rand, T. 1999. An assessment of mould contamination problems in Atlantic Canada schools. Mold burdens, amplifying sites and benefits of proactive school inspection policies. In: *Proceedings of Bioaerosols, Fungi, and Mycotoxins: Health Effects, Assessment, Prevention, and Control.* Ed. E. Johanning, Albany, NY: Eastern New York Occupational and Environmental Health Center, 581-92.

- 189. Ribéron, J, O'Kelly, P, Maupetit, F, Robine, E. 2002. Indoor air quality in schools: the impact of ventilation conditions and indoor activities. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup>International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 109-114.
- 190. Rindel, A, Bach, E, Breum, NO, Hugod, C, Schneider, T. 1987. Correlating health effect with indoor air quality in kindergartens. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 59 (4): 363-73.
- 191. Robinson, GLW and Conway, RNF. 1990. The effects of Irlen lenses on students specific reading skills and on perception of ability: A twelve month validity study. *Journal of Learning Disabilities*, 23 (10): 588-97.
- 192. Robinson, GLW and Conway, RNF. 1994. Irlen filters and reading strategies: Effect of coloured filters on reading achievement, specific reading strategies and perception of ability. *Perceptual and Motor Skills*, 79: 467-83.
- 193. Robinson, GL and Miles, J. 1987. The use of coloured overlays to improve visual processing: A preliminary survey. *The Exceptional Child*, 34: 65-70.
- 194. Robinson, GL, Hopkins, B, Davies, T. 1995. The incidence of Scotopic Sensitivity Syndrome in secondary school populations: A preliminary survey. *The Bulletin for Learning Disabilities*, 5 (1): 36-56.
- 195. Rodríguez, E, Castellanos, JL, Baaliña, A, Santaballa, JA, Golluboff, M, Arce, A, Garcia, L. 1997. Indoor air quality in the classrooms of schools in La Coruña. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol.1, Bethesda, MD, 43-47.
- 196. Romieu, I, Lugo, MC, Velasco, SR, Sanchez, S, Meneses, F, Hernandez, M. 1992. Air Pollution and School Absenteeism among Children in Mexico City. *American Journal of Epidemiology*, 136 (12): 1524-31.
- 197. Rohr, AC, Wilkins, CK, Clausen, PA, Hammer, M, Nielsen, GD, Spengler, JD, Wolkoff, P. 2002. Upper airway and pulmonary effects of terpene oxidation products in BALB/c mice. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 590-95.
- 198. Roponen, M. 2003. Nasal lavage in the evaluation of upper airway inflammation in three different exposure environments. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Bioaerosols, Fungi, Bacteria, Mycotoxins, and Human Health*, Abstracts, Saratoga Springs, NY, 58 (D4).
- 199. Rosen, KG, Richardson, G. 1999. Would removing indoor air particulates in children's environments reduce rate of absenteeism— a hypothesis. *Science of the Total Environment*, 234 (1-3): 87-93.
- 200. Ross, ZA and Walker, B. 1999*Reading, Writing, and Risk: Air Pollution Inside* California's Portable Classrooms. Environmental Working Group, for State of California.
- 201. Rudblad, S, Andersson, K, Stridh, G, Bodin, L, Juto, J-E. 2000. The prevalence of symptoms, mucosal sensitivity, and atopy among teachers and students in a remediated damp school. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol. 3, Espoo, Finland, 379 (abstract).
- 202. Rudblad, S, Andersson, K, Stridh, G, Bodin, L, Juto, J-E. 2001. Nasal hyperreactivity among teachers in a school with a long history of moisture problems. *American Journal of Rhinology*, 15 (2): 135-41.
- 203. Ruotsalainen, R, Jaakkola, N, Jaakkola, JJK. 1993. Ventilation and indoor air quality in Finnish daycare centers. *Environment International*, 19: 109-119.

- 204. Ruotsalainen, R, Jaakkola, N, Jaakkola, JJ. 1995. Dampness and molds in day-care centers as an occupational health problems. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 66 (6): 369-74.
- 205. Rylander, R. 1997. Airborne ( $1 \rightarrow 3$ )-beta-D-glucan and airway disease in a day-care center before and after renovation. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 52 (4): 281-85.
- 206. Rylander, R, Norrhall, M, Engdahl, U, Tunsater, A, Holt, PG. 1998. Airways inflammation, atopy, and (1→3)-beta-D-glucan exposures in two schools. *American Journal of Respiratory and Critical Care Medicine*, 158 (5 Pt 1): 1685-87.
- 207. Sabin, LD, Behrentz, E, Lee, SJ, Winer, AM, Colome, S, Kozawa, K, Fitz, DR, Pankratz, D, Fruin, S. 2003. Real-time Investigation of Variables Affecting Children's Exposure to Vehicle-Related Pollutants During School Bus Commutes in Los Angeles. In: Abstract Book, 13th Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 285.
- 208. Sahlberg, B, Smedje, G, and Norback, D. 2002. Sick building syndrome (SBS) among school employees in the county of Uppsala, Sweden. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup>International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 494-99.
- 209. Saint-John, LM and White, MA. 1988. The effect of coloured transparencies on the reading performance of reading disabled children. *Australian Journal of Psychology*, 40: 403-11.
- 210. Samson, RA, Flannigan, B, Flannigan, ME, et al. 1994. Health implications of fungi in indoor environments. *Air Quality Monographs*, 2: 531-38.
- 211. Sanz, SA, García, AM, García, A. 1993. Road traffic noise around schools: a risk for pupil's performance? *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 65: 205-07.
- 212.Sävenstrand, I, Falck, E, Hult M, Bakke, JV. 1999. Guidelines for Indoor Air Quality in Schools—Creation of Healthy Indoor Environment. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Edinburgh, Scotland, 570-75.
- 213. Savilahti, R, Uitti, J, Laippala, P, Husman, T, Roto, P. 2000. Respiratory morbidity among children following renovation of a water-damaged school. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 55 (6): 405-10.
- 214. Savilahti, R, Uitti, J, Roto, J, Laippala, P, Husman, T. 2001. Increased prevalence of atopy among children exposed to mold in a school building. *Allergy*, 56 (2): 175-79.
- 215.Scheff, PA, Paulius, VK, Huang, SW, Conroy, LM. 2000. Indoor air quality in a middle school, Part I: Use of CO<sub>2</sub> as a tracer for effective ventilation. *Applied Occupational and Environmental Hygiene*, 15 (11): 824-34.
- 216.Seep, B, Glosemeyer, R, Hulce, E, Linn, M, Aytar, P. 2000. Classroom Acoustics: A Resource for Creating Learning Environments with Desirable Listening Conditions. ASA, Technical Committee on Architectural Acoustics and University of Kansas Architectural Engineering Program. http://asa.aip.org/classroom/booklet.html
- 217. Sesline, D, Ames, RG, Howd, RA. 1994. Irritative and systemic symptoms following exposure to Microban disinfectant through a school ventilation system. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 49 (6): 439-44.
- 218. Shaughnessy, RJ, Turk, B, Casey, M, Harrison, J, Levetin, E. 1997. Use of energy recovery ventilators to provide ventilation in schools and the impact on indoor air contaminants. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol.1, Bethesda, MD, 161-66.

- 219. Shendell DG, Apte MG, Kim JC, and Smorodinsky S. 2002a. Building Effective Partnerships for School Environment Assessments and Interventions. Berkeley, CA: E.O. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, July 2002. LBNL-50377. (Also, *CASBO Journal*, submitted for publication.)
- 220. Shendell, DG, Di Bartolomeo, D, Fisk, WJ, Hodgson, AT, Hotchi, T, Lee, S-M, Sullivan, DP, Apte, MG, and Rainer, LI. 2002b. Final Methodology for a Field Study of Indoor Environmental Quality and Energy Efficiency in New Relocatable Classrooms in Northern California. Berkeley, CA: E.O. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, August 2002. LBNL-51101.
- 221. Shendell, DG, Lee S-M, Apte, MG, DiBartolomeo, DB, Sullivan, DP, Liff, SM, Fisk, WJ, Rainer, LI. 2002c. "Assessment of Noise Exposures in New Relocatable Classrooms with Standard and Advanced HVAC Systems." Poster presented at the joint annual meeting of the International Society of Exposure Analysis (12<sup>th</sup>) and the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology (14<sup>th</sup>), Vancouver, BC, Canada. Abstract published in *Epidemiology*, 13 (4), S223.
- 222. Shendell, DG, Hodgson, AT, Lee, S-M, Apte, MG, Sullivan, DP, Hotchi, T, Fisk, WJ. 2002d. VOCs in New Relocatable Classrooms: Assessment of School-Day Exposures Comparing Interior Finish Materials and HVAC Systems. Annual meeting of the International Society of Exposure Analysis (12<sup>th</sup>) and the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology (14<sup>th</sup>), Vancouver, B.C., Canada. Abstract published in *Epidemiology*, 13 (4), S143.
- 223. Shendell, DG. 2003a. Assessment of Organic Compound Exposures, Thermal Comfort Parameters, and HVAC System-Driven Air Exchange Rates in Public School Portable Classrooms in California. D.Env. dissertation. University of California, Los Angeles, School of Public Health, Environmental Sciences and Engineering Program. LBNL-53804.
- 224. Shendell, DG. 2003b. Using data and guidelines for risk communication and environmental education in schools: Example from the UCLA Portable Classrooms Study. 131<sup>st</sup> Annual Conference of the American Public Health Association, San Francisco, CA. Abstract available at <a href="http://apha.confex.com/apha/131am/techprogram/">http://apha.confex.com/apha/131am/techprogram/</a> (11/19/03, 14:30-16:00, session 5188.0).
- 225. Shendell, DG, Winer, AM, Colome, SD, Stock, TH, Zhang, L, Zhang, J, Maberti, S. 2003a. Air concentrations of VOCs in portable and traditional classrooms: Results of a pilot study in Los Angeles County. *Journal of Exposure Analysis and Environmental Epidemiology*, in press.
- 226. Shendell DG, Winer AM, Colome SD, Weker R. 2003b. Evidence of inadequate ventilation in portable classrooms: Results of a pilot study in Los Angeles County. *Indoor Air*, submitted for publication.
- 227. Shendell, DG, Prill, RP, Fisk WJ, Apte MG, Blake D, Faulkner D. 2003c. Associations between classroom CO<sub>2</sub> concentrations and student attendance. Berkeley, CA: E.O. Lawrence Berkeley National Laboratory, August 2003. LBNL-53586. (Also, *Indoor Air*, submitted for publication).
- 228. Siebert, GW. 1989. Hazardous noise at a child care center. *American Industrial Hygiene Association Journal*, 50 (11): A809.
- 229. Sigsgaard, T, Jensen, HLC, Nichum, E, et al. 1999. Symptoms associated to work in a water damaged school building. In: *Proceedings of Bioaerosols, Fungi and Mycotoxins: Health*

- Effects, Assessment, Prevention, and Control. Ed. E. Johanning, Albany, NY: Eastern New York Occupational and Environmental Health Center, 99-105.
- 230.Sigsgaard, T, Jensen, H, Nichum, E, Gravesen, S, Larsen, L, Hansen, MØ. 2000. Decrease in symptoms after rebuilding a water damaged school building. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings 2000*, Vol. 3, Espoo, Finland, 409 (abstract only).
- 231. Silverstein, MD, Mair, JE, Katusic, SK, Wollan, PC, O'Connell, EJ, Yunginger, JW. 2001. School attendance and school performance: A population-based study of children with asthma. *Journal of Pediatrics*, 139: 278-83.
- 232.Simoneau, C. 2003. Exposure to Chemicals from Toys: The Example of Phthalates in Soft PVC Toys. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 104.
- 233.Slater, BR. 1968. Effects of noise on pupil performance. *Journal of Educational Psychology*, 59 (4): 239-43.
- 234.Smedje, G, Norbäck, D, Edling, C. 1996a. Mental performance by secondary school pupils in relation to the quality of the indoor air. In: *Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 4, Nagoya, Japan, 413-19.
- 235.Smedje, G, Norbäck, D, Edling, C. 1996b. Asthma among school employees in relation to the school environment. In: *Proceedings of the 7<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Nagoya, Japan, 611-16.
- 236.Smedje, G, Norbäck, D, Edling, C. 1997a. Subjective indoor air quality in schools in relation to exposure. *Indoor Air*, 7 (2), 143-150.
- 237. Smedje, G, Norbäck, D, Edling, C. 1997b. Asthma among secondary school pupils in relation to the school environment. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 27: 1270-78.
- 238. Smedje, G and Norbäck, D. 1999a. Factors affecting the concentration of pollutants in school buildings. In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Edinburgh, Scotland, 267-72.
- 239. Smedje, G and Norbäck, D. 1999b. The School Environment—Is it related to the incidence of asthma in the pupils? In: *Proceedings of the 8<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 5, Edinburgh, Scotland, 445-50.
- 240. Smedje, G and Norback, D. 2000. New Ventilation Systems at Select Schools in Sweden-Effects on Asthma and Exposure. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 55(1): 18-25.
- 241. Smedje, G and Norbäck, D. 2001a. Irritants and allergens at school in relation to furnishings and cleaning. *Indoor Air*, 11 (2): 127-133.
- 242. Smedje, G and Norbäck, D. 2001b. Incidence of asthma diagnosis and self-reported allergy in relation to the school environment—a four-year follow-up study in schoolchildren. *International Journal of Tuberculosis and Lung Disease*, 5: 1059-66.
- 243. Soli, SD and Sullivan, JA. 1997. Factors affecting children's speech communication in classrooms. *Journal of the Acoustical Society of America*, 101: S3070.
- 244. Souto, JN and de Oliveira Fernandes, E. 2000. HVAC filters as pollution sources: Results of experimental tests and lessons for practice. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings* 2000, Vol.2, Espoo, Finland, 239-44.
- 245. Sowa, J. 2002. Air quality and ventilation rates in schools in Poland—requirements, reality, and possible improvements. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 68-73.
- 246. Su, HJ, Wu, PC, Lin, CY. 2001. Fungal exposure of children at home and schools: a health perspective. *Archives of Environmental Health*, 54: 58-63.

- 247. Suk, WA, Ruchirawat, KM, Balakrishnan, K, Berger, M, Carpenter, D, Damstra, T, Pronczuk de Garbino, J, Koh, D, Landrigan, PJ, Makalinao, I, Sly, PD, Xu, Y, Zheng BS. 2003. Environmental Threats to Children's Health in Southeast Asia and the Western Pacific. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 114 (10): 1340-1347.
- 248. Subcommittee on Acoustics in Educational Settings of the Bioacoustics Standards and Noise Standards Committee, American Speech-Language-Hearing Association (ASHA). 1995. Acoustics in educational settings. *ASHA* Suppl, 37 (3 Suppl 14): 15-19.
- 249. Taskinen, T, Meklin, T, Nousiainen, M, Husman, T, Nevalainen, A, Korppi, M. 1997. Moisture and mold problems in schools and respiratory manifestations in school children: clinical and skin test findings. *Acta Paediatr*, 86 (11): 1181-87.
- 250. Taskinen, T, Hyvarinen, A, Meklin, T, Husman, T, Nevalainen, A, Korppi, M. 1999. Asthma and respiratory infections in school children with special reference to moisture and mold problems in the school. *Acta Paediatr*, 88 (12): 1373-79.
- 251. Thorstensen, E, Hansen, C, Pejtersen, J, Clausen, GH, Fanger, PO. 1990. Air pollution sources and indoor air quality in schools. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 1, Toronto, Canada, 531-36.
- 252. Torres, V, Sanders, M, Corsi, R. 2002. Texas elementary school indoor air study (TESIAS): overview and major findings. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 80-85.
- 253. Tortolero, SR, Bartholomew, LK, Tyrrell, S, Abramson, SL, Sockrider, MM, Markham, CM, Whitehead, LW, Parcel, GS. 2002. Environmental allergens and irritants in schools: a focus on asthma. *Journal of School Health*, 72 (1): 33-8.
- 254. Turk, B, Powell, G, Casey, M, Fisher, E, Ligman, B, Marquez, A, Harrison, J, Hopper, R, Brennan, T, Shaughnessy, R. 1997. Impact of ventilation modifications on indoor air quality characteristics at an elementary school. In: *Proceedings of Healthy Buildings/IAQ '97: Global Issues and Regional Solutions*, Vol.1, Bethesda, MD, 155-60.
- 255. Turk, BH, Hadlich, D, Brennan, T, Duggan, A, Shaughnessy, R, Vogel, M, Abend, A, Galbraith, S, Hills, S, Miller, M. 2002. Environmental assessment protocols for homes, schools, and child care. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 3, Monterey, CA, 166-71.
- 256. Tyrrell, R, Holland, K, Dennis, D, Wilkins, A. 1995. Coloured Overlays, Visual Discomfort, Visual Search and Classroom Reading. *Journal of Research in Reading*, 18 (1): 10-23.
- 257. United States Centers for Disease Control (USCDC). 2003. Healthy People 2010: Environmental Health (#8 of 28) Focus Area. Accessed on Internet November 3, 2003, <a href="http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hphome.htm">http://www.cdc.gov/nchs/hphome.htm</a>, <a href="http://www.healthypeople.gov/Document/HTML/Volume1;08Environmental.htm">http://www.healthypeople.gov/Document/HTML/Volume1;08Environmental.htm</a># Toc490564711
- 258. United States Environmental Protection Agency (USEPA). 1989. Radon Reduction Technologies in Schools-Interim Technical Guidance. EPA-520/1-89-020.
- 259. USEPA. 1994. Reducing Radon in Schools: A Team Approach. EPA 402-R-94-008.
- 260. USEPA. 1996. Environmental Health Threats to Children. Office of the Administrator. September 1996. EPA 175-F-96-001.
- 261. USEPA. 2000. Strategy for Research on Environmental Risks to Children. Office of Research and Development. October 2000. EPA/600/R-00/068.
- 262. USEPA. 2001. Removing PCBs from Light Fixtures: Protecting Students from Hidden Dangers. San Francisco, CA: USEPA Region 9 Pollution Prevention Program, May 2001. EPA 909B-00-002.

- 263.USEPA. 2002a. Asthma Research Strategy. Office of Research and Development. September 2002. EPA 600/R-01/061.
- 264.USEPA. 2002b. Various statistics on childhood asthma. Internet, <a href="http://www.epa.gov/iaq/schools">http://www.epa.gov/children/asthma.htm</a>
- 265. USEPA. 2003a. Indoor Air Quality: Formaldehyde. Internet, <a href="http://www.epa.gov/iaq/formalde.html">http://www.epa.gov/iaq/formalde.html</a>
- 266. USEPA. 2003b. Clean School Bus USA Program. Accessed on Internet November 3, 2003, <a href="http://www.epa.gov/cleanschoolbus">http://www.epa.gov/cleanschoolbus</a>
- 267. USEPA. 2003c. Asbestos in Schools (including AHERA). Accessed on Internet November 3, 2003, <a href="http://www.epa.gov/asbestos/asbestos in schools.html">http://www.epa.gov/asbestos/asbestos in schools.html</a>
- 268.U.S. General Accounting Office (USGAO). 1995. School Facilities: Conditions of America's Schools. Washington, D.C. GAO/HEHS-95-61.
- 269.USGAO. 1996a. America's Schools Report Differing Conditions. Washington, D.C. GAO/HEHS-96-103.
- 270. USGAO. 1996b. School Facilities, Profiles of School Conditions by State. Washington, D.C. GAO/HEHS-96-148.
- 271. Van Kamp, I, Job, S, Stansfeld, S, Hatfield, J, Haines, M. 2002. The Role of Noise Sensitivity in the Noise-Response Relationship. 14<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology and 12<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Vancouver, BC, Canada. Abstract in *Epidemiology*, 13 (4).
- 272. Van Kamp, I, Stansfeld, S, Haines, M. 2003. Effects of Aircraft Noise and Road Traffic Noise on Annoyance and Perceived Health in Children: Reliability and Validity of Measures, the RANCH Study. 15<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Environmental Epidemiology, Perth, Western Australia. Abstract in *Epidemiology*, 14 (5): S84.
- 273. Van Kempen, EEMM, Kruize, H, Boshuizen, HC, Ameling, CB, Staatsen, BAM, and de Hollander, AEM. 2002. The Association between Noise Exposure and Blood Pressure and Ischemic Heart Disease: A Meta-analysis. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110 (3): 307-317.
- 274. Wady, L, Shehabi, A, Szponar, B, Pehrson, C, Sheng, Y, Larsson, L. 2003. Heterogeneity in microbial exposure in schools in Sweden, Poland, and Jordan revealed by analysis of chemical markers. In: *Proceedings of the 5<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Bioaerosols, Fungi, Bacteria, Mycotoxins, and Human Health*, Abstracts, Saratoga Springs, NY, 105 (I3).
- 275. Wainman, T, Zhang, J, Weschler, CJ, Lioy, PJ. 2000. Ozone and Limonene in Indoor Air: A Source of Submicron Particle Exposure. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 108 (12): 1139-45.
- 276. Wakefield, J. 2002. Learning the Hard Way: The Poor Environment of America's Schools. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 110 (6): A298-A305.
- 277. Wålinder, R, Norbäck, D, Wieslander, G, Smedje, G, Erwall, C. 1997a. Nasal Congestion in Relation to Low Air Exchange Rate in Schools. *Acta Otolaryngol*, 117: 724-27.
- 278. Wålinder, R, Norbäck, D, Wieslander, G, Smedje, G, Erwall, C. 1997b. Nasal mucosal swelling in relation to low air exchange rate in schools. *Indoor Air*, 7 (3): 198-205.
- 279. Wålinder, R, Norbäck, D, Wieslander, G, Smedje, G, Erwall, C, Venge, P. 1998. Nasal potency and biomarkers in nasal lavage- the significance of air exchange rate and type of ventilation in schools. *International Archives of Occupational and Environmental Health*, 71 (7): 479-486.

- 280. Wålinder, R, Norbäck, D, Wieslander, G, Smedje, G, Erwall, C, Venge, P. 1999. Nasal patency and lavage biomarkers in relation to settled dust and cleaning routines in schools. *Scandinavian Journal of Worker Environmental Health*, 25 (2): 137-43.
- 281. Wålinder, R, Norbäck, D, Wieslander, G, Smedje, G, Erwall, C, Venge, P. 2000. Acoustic rhinometry in epidemiological studies—Nasal reactions in Swedish schools. *Rhinology*, 59-64.
- 282. Wålinder, R, Norbäck, D, Wieslander, G, Smedje, G, Erwall, C, Venge, P. 2001. Acoustic rhinometry and lavage biomarkers in relation to some building characteristics in Swedish schools. *Indoor Air*, 11 (1): 2-9.
- 283. Wallace, LA, Nelson, WC, Pellizzari, E, Raymer, JH, Thomas, KW. 1991. Identification of Polar Volatile Organic Compounds in Consumer Products and Common Microenvironments. Paper presented (#A312) at the 84<sup>th</sup> Annual Meeting of the Air and Waste Management Association, June 16-21, 1991, Vancouver, BC, Canada. EPA/600/D-91/074
- 284. Wantke, F, Demmer, CM, Tappler, P, Gotz, M, Jarisch, R. 1996. Exposure to gaseous formaldehyde induces IgE-mediated sensitization to formaldehyde in school children. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 26 (3): 276-80.
- 285. Wargocki, P, Sundell, J, Bischof, W, Brundrett, G, Fanger, PO, Gyntelberg, F, Hanssen, SO, Harrison, P, Pickering, A, Seppanen, O, Wouters, P. 2002. Ventilation and health in non-industrial indoor environments: report from a European multidisciplinary scientific consensus meeting (EUROVEN). *Indoor Air*, 12 (2): 113-28.
- 286. Washington State Department of Health (WADOH). 2000.
- 287. Washington State University (WSU). 2002. Indoor Air Quality in Northwest Schools: Tips toward healthier air quality in the classroom. Spokane, WA: WSU Cooperative Extension Energy Program, Fall Quarter 2002 Newsletter, 5.
- 288. Weitzman, M. 1986. School absence rates as outcome measures in studies of children with chronic illness. *Journal of Chronic Diseases*, 39: 799-808.
- 289. Westman, JC and Walters, JR. 1981. Noise and stress: a comprehensive approach. *Environmental Health Perspectives*, 41: 291-309.
- 290. Whiting, PR. 1988. Improvement in reading and other skills using Irlen coloured lenses. *Australian Journal of Remedial Education*, 20 (1): 13-15.
- 291. Wickman, M, Egmar, A, Emenius, G, Almqvist, C, Berglind, N, Larsson, P, Van Hage-Hamsten, M. 1999. Fel d 1 and Can f 1 in settled dust and airborne Fel d 1 in allergen avoidance day-care centers for atopic children in relation to number of pet-owners, ventilation, and general cleaning. *Clinical and Experimental Allergy*, 29 (5): 626-32.
- 292. Wilkins, CK, Wolkoff, P, Clausen, PA, Hammer, M, Nielsen, GD. 2002. Terpene/ozone reaction products (TOPS). Dependence of irritation on reaction time and relative humidity. In: *Proceedings of the 9<sup>th</sup> International Conference on Indoor Air Quality and Climate*, Vol. 2, Monterey, CA, 608-12.
- 293. Williams, MC, LeCluyse, K, Rock-Faucheux, A. 1992. Effective interventions for reading disability. *Journal of the American Optometric Association*, 63: 411-17.
- 294. Wilson, NK, Lyu, C, Chuang, JC, Strauss, W. 2003. Pesticide Exposures of Preschool Children Over Time: The First Study Year. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, September 21-25, 2003, 28.
- 295. Winer, AM, Sabin, LD, Behrentz, E, Lee, SJ, Colome, S, Kozawa, K, Wong, K, Fitz, DR, Pankratz, D, Fruin, S. 2003. Characterizing the Range of Children's Pollutant Exposure

- during School Bus Commutes in Los Angeles. In: Abstract Book, 13<sup>th</sup> Annual Conference of the International Society of Exposure Analysis, Stresa, Italy, 284.
- 296. Wolkoff, PC, Wilkins, CK, Nielsen, GD. 2000. Formation of strong airway irritants in terpene/ozone mixtures. *Indoor Air*, 10: 82-91.
- 297. World Health Organization (WHO). 1999. "Guidelines for Community Noise." London, England.
- 298. WHO. 2001a. "Guidelines for Community Noise: Executive Summary." Accessed on Internet, <a href="http://www.who.int/environmental\_information/Noise/ComnoiseExec.htm">http://www.who.int/environmental\_information/Noise/ComnoiseExec.htm</a>
- 299. WHO. 2001b. "WHO Information Fact Sheet No. 258 (February 2001): Occupational and Community Noise." Accessed on Internet, <a href="http://www.who.int/inf-fs/en/fact258.html">http://www.who.int/inf-fs/en/fact258.html</a>
- 300. Wyon, DP. 1970. Studies of children under imposed noise and heat stress. *Ergonomics*, 13 (5): 598-612.
- 301. Zhang, JF, He, QC, Lioy, PJ. 1994. Characteristics of aldehydes-concentrations, sources, and exposures for indoor and outdoor residential microenvironments. *Environmental Science and Technology*, 28(1): 146-152.
- 302. Zhou, JY, Liu, K-S, Waldman, JM. 1998. Survey of Indoor Radon Concentrations in California Elementary Schools: Final Report. Berkeley, CA: California Department of Health Services, Environmental Health Laboratory Branch, Indoor Air Quality Program. CA/DOH/EHLB/R-400.

## APPENDIX I

Existing noise guidelines for school environments at local, state and international levels

(Washington State Department of Health (WADOH), 2000; WHO, 1999; 2001a-b; ASA, 2002; Wakefield, 2002; Nelson, 2003)

Specific Microenvironment	Leq, dB(A)	Time	Reference
School classrooms and pre-schools,	35	During school	WHO, 1999;
indoors		hours	WHO, 2001a-b
School, playground, outdoors	55	During recess or physical education	WHO, 2001a-b
Industrial arts, vocational education and trade classrooms, chemistry fume hoods and/or dust exhaust systems operational when unoccupied, indoors	65	During class hours	WADOH, 2000
Vocational education and music areas, indoors	115	One second or longer	WADOH, 2000
School classrooms, unoccupied,	35 (in 2003, due to	During school	ASA, 2002;
indoors	Americans with	hours	Wakefield, 2002
NOTE: also included 0.6 second max. unoccupied reverberation time	Disabilities Act)		

## APPENDIX II.1

List of some state and federal government sponsored Internet sites on school IEQ and energy

California Collaborative for High Performance Schools, *Best Practices Manuals* (Vol. 1-4) <a href="http://www.chps.net/">http://www.chps.net/</a>

National Center for Education Statistics, United States Department of Education (USDoEd) <a href="http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch">http://nces.ed.gov/pubsearch</a>

National Clearing House for Educational Facilities

http://www.edfacilities.org/rl

State of California Department of Energy,

"The Bright Schools Program: Energy-Efficient Schools for a Brighter Future" http://www.energy.ca.gov/efficiency/brightschools/info.html

State of California, Division of the State Architect, "Sustainable Schools Website"

http://www.sustainableschools.dgs.ca.gov/sustainableschools/

NOTE: Will include links to pages on "Environmentally Preferable Purchasing" of materials for school design and construction or modernization activities

State of California Fire Marshall

http://www.fire.ca.gov/FireMarshal/PDF/class\_more.pdf

State of California Interagency Working Group on Indoor Air Quality (IAQ)

(Department of Health Services, Environmental Health Laboratory Branch, IAQ Section), "Advisory on Relocatable and Renovated Classrooms (12/1996)"

http://www.cal-iaq.org/

State of Minnesota Department of Health, children's environmental health issues,

including a page dedicated to schools

http://www.health.state.mn.us/divs/eh/children/schools.html

University of Wisconsin (USEPA funded, through Great Lakes National Program Office), "Mercury in Schools Project"

http://www.mercuryinschools.uwex.edu/

USDoEd, information for school planning for natural disasters, violent incidents, terrorist attacks <a href="http://www.ed.gov/emergencyplan">http://www.ed.gov/emergencyplan</a>

United States Department of Energy, "EnergySmart Schools Program Campaign" http://www.eren.doe.gov/energysmartschools

USEPA "IAO Design Tools for Schools"

http://www.epa.gov/iag/schooldesign

USEPA "Healthy School Environments"

http://cfpub.epa.gov/schools/index.cfm

USEPA,"State Mercury School Programs"

http://www.epa.gov/mercury/index.html

USEPA "Tools for Schools" Program materials

http://www.epa.gov/iaq/schools/index.html

## APPENDIX II.2

List of some public and not-for-profit institutions Internet sites on school environmental quality, and select private companies on IEQ-promoting classroom construction or finishing materials

AASA "Green School Project"

http://www.aasa.org

ACSA, "State Education Policy and Politics" column and list of articles

http://www.acsa.org/news

Alliance to Save Energy's (ASE) School Energy Efficiency Task Force

http://www.ase.org/greenschools

American Nurses Association,

"Safe Workplaces and Healthy Learning Places: Environmentally Healthy Schools"

http://nursingworld.org/mods/mod250/cesafull.htm

Association of Higher Education Facilities Officers (APPA)

http://www.appa.org/

Beyond Pesticides, information on state policies and programs on use of pesticides at schools <a href="http://www.beyondpesticides.org">http://www.beyondpesticides.org</a>

California Coalition for Adequate School Housing (CASH)

http://www.cashnet.org

California Healthy Schools Campaign, information for schools to eliminate pesticide use <a href="http://www.calhealthyschools.org">http://www.calhealthyschools.org</a>

Children's Health Environment Coalition (CHEC), "Healthy Schools: A Resource List" wysiwyg://2/http://www.checnet.org/healtheducation/articles-detail.asp?Main\_ID=487

Environment and Human Health, Inc. (CT), list of 12 steps to healthier schools

http://www.ehhi.org

Evans Consulting, "Irlen Syndrome accommodations at school or work"

http://www.evansconsult.org/is accom.htm

Healthy Kids: The Key to Basics, information for children with asthma and other chronic conditions while at school and nurses who treat them

http://www.healthy-kids.info

Healthy Schools Network

http://www.healthyschools.org

National Education Association (NEA), links to programs and information on IEQ and asthma <a href="http://www.nea.org/">http://www.nea.org/</a>

National Parent-Teacher Association, information on different legislative categories on schools <a href="http://www.pta.org/programs/legini.asp">http://www.pta.org/programs/legini.asp</a>

Northwest Coalition for Alternatives to Pesticides, information to reduce pesticide use in schools <a href="http://www.pesticide.org">http://www.pesticide.org</a>

Selected private sector companies with information on IEQ-promoting classroom materials: http://www.carpet-rug.com/

"Selecting Carpets and Rugs: Carpet in Schools," "Indoor Air Quality: 'Green Label' Testing Program" (criteria for carpets, adhesives, cushion under carpet) http://www.healthyflooring.org/Information.html

"Problems with Fitted Carpets and PVC Floors," "Suppliers" (list)

http://www.mbinet.org, Modular Building Institute